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PROCEEDINGS ON 20 JANUARY 2020     [10:25] 

MR MLOTSHWA:   Morning.   My name is,  my surname is spelt  

as fo l lows.  M-l-o-t -s-h-w-a.  

COURT:   T-s-h-w-a.   Yes,  I  have got that .  

MR MLOTSHWA:   Thank you, M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   May I  p lease the court .   I  appear on behalf  of 

the Aggett  family together with my learned juniors.   Mr Tye 

Scott  and Ms Naseema Fakir.    

COURT:   What is the other surname?  

MR VARNEY:   That  is Tye Scott ,  so T-h-a- i  . . . [ intervenes].   10 

COURT:   I  have got that .  

MR VARNEY   And Scott,  S-c-o-t - t .  

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   N-a-s-e-e-m-a.  Fakir.   F-a-k- i - r.  

COURT:   Yes.    

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord we are instructed by Moray Hathorn.  

The pro bona  department of  Webber Wentzel  At torneys.    

COURT:   Statement in n ineteen that  ordering or d irect ing the 

Judge President of  th is Divis ion,  Judge President Malambo to 

appoint  a Judge of  Divis ion to preside over the re -opened 20 

inquest in terms of  sect ion 17(a)(1) of  the Inquest Act number 

58 of  1959.  I  was therefore appointed to hear th is matter.   I t  is  

common knowledge that a person shal l  be giving evidence in 

th is matter,  in th is hearing who may very wel l  be impl icated.    

 They held the r ights to be rep resented if  they have a 
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bel ief  that  they may very wel l  be impl icated.   People f rom the 

media have also made appl icat ion to me to cover th is hearing.  

I  have granted the permission and I  have sat isf ied myself  that 

they are not  other who are object ing towards the coverage of 

th is hearing.  

 However,  there are certa in conduct ru les and direct ives 

which were issued by the Judge President.  I  wi l l  hand out 

copies of  the direct ives so that  media should know what and 

what not  to do.   They are not  intrusive.   They are not  meant to 

prohib i t  you f rom doing anything but certa in conduct in court .  10 

Not to d isturb the witnesses when they are giving evidence.  

So, the document is there.   You can read i t  at  your own t ime 

and, and if  there are anything that  you would l ike to know f rom 

that  document you may approach me in Chambers.  

 Having said that ,  I  have been out a l is t  of  witnesses that 

are going to be given evidence.  I t  may be exhaust ive.   They 

may be people very wel l  appear later.   Would be re -cal led 

later.   Is there anybody here who you know has knowledge to 

inform the Court  as to what happened on that day,  or dur ing 

that  per iod when Nei l  Aggett  was in  detent ion.   He is f ree to 20 

approach the evidence leaders and to furnish his statement so 

that  we maybe to be informed about exact ly what happened.  

 Having said that ,  I  wi l l  give over  to the evidence leaders 

to proceed. 

MR MALABELA:   As the court  p leases.  M'Lord the opening 



   INTRODUCTION 
    

445/2019_20.01.2020-db  /… 

 

3 

l ines to the pre-amble of  our South Af r ican Const i tut ion reads 

as fo l lows.  I  quote  

“We, the people of  South Af r ica, recognise the 

in just ices of  our past ;  Honour those who suf fered 

for just ice and f reedom in our land ; respect  those 

who have worked to bui ld and develop our country; 

and bel ieve that  South Af r ica belongs to a l l  who l ive  

in i t ,  uni ted in our d iversi ty.   We therefore,  through 

our f reely e lected representat ives,  adopt th is 

Const i tut ion as the supreme law of  the Republ ic so 10 

as to heal the divis ions of  the past  and establ ish a 

society based on democrat ic values, socia l in just ice 

and fundamental  human r ights;  Lay the foundat ions 

for a democrat ic and open society in which 

government is based on the wi l l  of  the people and 

every c i t izen is equal ly protected by law;   Improve 

the qual i ty of  l i fe of  a l l  c i t izens and f ree the 

potent ia l  of  each person; and  bui ld a uni ted and 

democrat ic South Af r ica able to take i ts r ightfu l  

p lace as a sovereign state in the family of  nat ions.   20 

May God protect  our people.   Nkosi Sikele l '  iAf r ica.  

Morena boloka set jhaba sa heso.   God seën Suid-

Af r ika.   God bless South Af r ica.   Mudzimu 

fhatutshedza Afurika.  Hosi katekisa Af r ika.   May 

God bless our people.”  
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 M'Lord i t  is  an ominous that next  month we mark the 

th ir ty-e ight  anniversary of  the death of  Doctor Nei l Hudson 

Aggett .   I  bel ieve M'Lord that  th is is the second only ever re -

opened inquest in the Country,  in th is Country re lat ing to a 

detainee who died whi lst  detained by the then securi ty branch 

of  the South Af r ican Pol ice Force.  

 In the immortal  words of  Judge  Mothle who presided 

over the f i rst  ever pr ison ci t ing inquest,  h istor ic inquest in th is 

country 2017.  In the Timol inquest .   I  quote,  

“ Inquests proceedings are regulated by the Act 58 10 

of  1959. The purpose of  hold ing an inquest is to 

invest igate the circumstances of  death apparent ly 

occurr ing f rom other than natural  causes and where 

the prosecutor had decl ined to prosecute.    To 

achieve th is purpose i t  is  necessary for any person 

who bears knowledge of  the circumstances leading 

to the death and or the incident of death to avai l  

such informat ion to the Court  conduct ing the 

inquest proceedings”  

 M'Lord as the honourable Court  has correct ly 20 

indicated Doctor Aggett  d ied whi lst  in detent ion on 5 February 

1982 and an inquest was held.   M'Lord to further quote 

Judge Mothle he further stated the fo l lowing,  

“Considering the conspectus of  the documents 

submitted thus far,  there is no doubt in my mind 
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that  dur ing these proceedings we, as South Af r icans 

are about to enter a door that wi l l  rekindle painfu l  

memories. A door that  invi tes us to embark on a 

journey which wi l l  cause al l  of  us to conf ront the 

sordid part  of  our  h istory.   That door wi l l  only be 

closed, once the t ruth is revealed. ”  

 In the words M'Lord of  the catalyst  that set the bal l  

ro l l ing for the histor ic re -opening of  the inquest i t  is a pr ivi lege 

M'Lord to present evidence in a democrat ic South -Afr ica.  

Detent ion under Apartheid South -Afr ica could not  be more 10 

apicul ture than in the phormium pend by Chris van Wyk which 

reads as fo l lows; I  quote  

“He fe l l  f rom the ninth f loor .   He hanged himself .   

He sl ipped on a piece of  soap whi le washing .   He 

hanged himself .   He sl ipped on a piece of  soap 

whi le washing.   He fe l l  f rom the ninth f loor .   He 

hanged himself  whi le washing .   He sl ipped f rom the 

ninth f loor .   He hung f rom the ninth f loor .   He 

sl ipped on the ninth f loor whi le washing .   He fe l l  

f rom a piece of  soap whi le s l ipping.   He hung f rom 20 

the ninth f loor .   He washed f rom the ninth f loor 

whi le s l ipping.   He hung f rom a piece of  soap whi le 

washing.” 

 L ike the poem M'Lord,  the evidence that wi l l  be 

presented wi l l  focus on the horr i fying pract ice of  torture in 
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detent ion in the Apartheid of  South -Afr ica.   What we, M'Lord 

would endeavour to show is the fundamental  a im of  the 

Government Pol icy in an Apartheid South -Afr ica then.  That 

was meant to maintain under a l l  c i rcumstances the White 

pol i t ical  supremist  and the preservat ion of  White,  Socia l  and 

Economic Privi lege.   

 This was done by the introduct ion of  Securi ty Laws 

which were introduced as early as 1948.  The passing of  the 

Communism Act in 1950 was the f i rst  step towards the certa in 

of  what I  cal l ,  sorry toward the  creation of  what I  cal l  a pol ice 10 

state in South-Africa.   Many other laws were adopted and 

pract ice which had a draconian effect  on our people.   But 

today M'Lord f rom onwards what we wi l l  endeavour to show 

further is that any resistance to the oppressive G overnment 

was obl i terated by any means, lawful and unlawful .    

 What we also endeavour to show was the tendency of 

some prosecutors, doctors and even judic ia l  off icers enable 

the unlawful  and murderous act ions of  the specia l branch of  

the South Af r ican Pol ice.   What we wi l l  at tempt to show is that 

i f  Dr Nei l  Aggett  indeed took his own l i fe .   There was no need 20 

for the Specia l  Branch to go through the extremes that they did 

to look for evidence that Doctor Nei l  Aggett  who was in their 

words a born mental  case , a suic ide wait ing to happen.  

 What we wi l l  show M'Lord is the extent  that  the 

Specia l  Branch went through aided by persons in senior levels  
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of  both Government and Just ice to cover up the t ruth.   We wi l l  

argue M'Lord that  given the extensive preparat ion for h is 

impending inquest,  unusual and highly i rregular pract ices were 

formulated aided by psychologists  as wel l  as senior members 

of  the South Af r ican Pol ice specia l  branch.  

 The pattern of  behaviour.   The modus operandi  and 

the general  acceptance of  what  became the standardised 

outcome of  most inquests were immortal ised in the book 

penned by learned advocate George Bizos in the book apt ly 

t i t led I  No One To Blame .    10 

 Undoubted M'Lord the very vale of  so -cal led 

protect ion to the rest  of  the South -Afr ica to the avai labi l i ty of  a 

select  few could only have sanct ioned by those seated by 

highest level  of  Government.   Many to be heard accountable 

for their  act ions.  

 The real i ty M'Lord is that at least  s ixty -seven 

detainees died whi le in custody of  the securi ty p ol ice.  Those 

are which that they know of .   The gr im real i ty M'Lord is that 

the count was probably more.   Even worse M'Lord is the real i ty 

that  a l l  the detainees could not have hung themselves.  20 

Jumped out of  windows.  Sl ipped whi lst  taking a bath and so 

on. 

 As broadly stated in our pre -amble M'Lord i t  is  t ime to 

give effect to the words to recognising the in just ices of  the 

past.   And there is no better t ime M'Lord than the present to 
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embark on a journey to heal the wounds inf l ic ted on our people  

by the Apartheid system.   

 Yesterday M'Lord, that  is 19 January 2020 I wri te 

var ious newspaper art ic les in which certa in individuals were 

quoted as having a saying that  they were detained and tortured 

in about the same t ime as Doctor Aggett .   On behalf  of  the 

Nat ional Prosecut ion Authori ty M'Lord I  appeal to those people 

to go via  the Nat ional Prosecut ion Authori ty to come forward.  

To narrate their  version of  th is despicable event to th is Court .  

 That is our prayer to a l l  who know what happened to 10 

Doctor Nei l  Aggett M'Lord.   That is our address.   Thank you, 

M'Lord. 

COURT:   Thank you.  Adv Varney.  

MR VARNEY:   As the court  p leases.  M'Lord I  do have wri t ten 

copies of  my opening address and wi th the leave of  the Court  I  

can hand up the wri t ten copy.  

COURT:   That is  f ine.   Thank you.  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord I am indebted to my learned f r iend f rom 

the State for h is inspir ing opening address.   M'Lord some 

38 years ago Dr Nei l  Aggett  was found dead in a cel l  at  John 20 

Square on the early morning of 5 February 1982.  

 He was the 51st detainee to die in detention in the 

custody of the Security Branch (“SB”).  He was only 28 years old.  

M'Lord we are here today to search for the truth of what happened 

to Neil.  The truth that was suppressed in the first inquest – and 
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which was denied to his family, comrades, friends and the nation 

for some 38 years.   

 It will be our submission that a massive and obvious 

fraud was perpetrated by the state in the 1982 inquest and M'Lord 

this demands the overturning of the original finding.  Neil Aggett 

was a dedicated medical doctor and trade union organiser.  In his 

own words M'Lord, he was an idealist.  He only wanted the best for 

his country.  He stood with the oppressed peoples of South Africa.  

 He was deeply offended by the massive inequalities 

imposed by the system of apartheid.  In the words of his chief 10 

tormentor, he could have practised medicine in the affluent white 

suburbs of Johannesburg as a Doctor.  If he had M'Lord he would 

most likely be alive and prosperous today.  Instead he chose to 

use his skills, his education and his energy to make a meaningful 

difference to those on the receiving end of the pernicious system 

of apartheid.  

 His chosen areas of intervention were in health care and 

on the shop floor.  In the eyes of the Nationalist regime and the 

hated Security Branch (SB) this was a deep betrayal of his own 

race group.  This made him a traitor in their eyes.  He was the 20 

enemy; and he was going to pay for the betrayal . 

 Neil was aware that his chosen path would place him at 

considerable risk and ultimately place him in harm’s way.  While he 

was by no means reckless, he would not have had it any other 

way.  It was inevitable that at some point his idealism and 
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unrelenting dedication to social justice would come head to head 

with the brutal machinery of the apartheid state.  

 M'Lord The Aggett family have walked a long journey to 

today’s hearing.  Both Neil’s parents, Aubrey and Joy Aggett, as 

well as Neil’s brother, Michael went to their graves without learning 

the real story behind Neil’s death in detention.  They had to live 

and die with a manifestly false official finding that nobody was to 

blame.  

 Neil’s sister, Jill Burger, who is with us in court today, has 

championed the re-opening of this inquest on the Aggett family’s 10 

behalf.  It is Jill who Neil called when he was taken to John Vorster 

Square on 27 November 1981 and assured Jill that “Its fine. I have 

got nothing to answer for”.  It is Jill who vividly recalls visiting an 

emaciated Neil in John Vorster Square on 31 December 1981 and 

to whom Neil spoke of his hopes and desires post detention, 

including his aim to pursue a career in emergency surgery.  

 It was Jill who received the earth-shattering news at 06:00 

on 5 February 1982 that Neil had died in detention.  

 Jill, along with Neil’s nephew, Stephen Aggett, who is also 

with us in court today, have remained resolute in their belief that 20 

the first inquest into Neil’s death was a fraud.  It is through their 

persistent efforts and support that the re-opening of the Aggett 

inquest was made possible.  

 M'Lord it is nothing less than disgraceful that the Aggett 

family had to wait some 26 years before a post-apartheid 
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government reopened the inquest.  

 This matter M'Lord I shall return to in due course.   

M'Lord turning to the role of the former Security Branch of the 

South African Police Security Branch was a thoroughly corrupt 

organisation.  Wholescale fabrication of evidence and deception 

were the order of the day.  They were masters of the cover-up. 

Specialists like Rooi Rus Swanepoel were quickly brought in to 

concoct versions and tie up loose ends.  

 It is our respectful view M'Lord that the bulk of what was put 

by the Security Branch must be viewed with great circumspection. 10 

Indeed, we will submit that virtually all of it was transparently false. 

The challenge for this honourable Court will be to determine the 

snippets of truth amongst the morass of falsehoods and deception. 

 M'Lord following Neil’s death, the machinery of the Apartheid 

State immediately swung into action to cover up the real 

circumstances of his death.  The State sent under-cover 

operatives to illegally enter the Aggett family’s home to look for 

evidence of Neil’s claimed, “suicidal tendencies.”  The Security 

Branch bugged the offices of the Aggett’s lawyers and tapped their 

phones.  20 

 It concocted a favourable version of Neil’s death and 

detention and death.  It then coached its officials to stick to the 

fabricated version it had concocted.  M'Lord why would the 

Security Branch go to such lengths if in fact what they alleged 

actually happened?  



   INTRODUCTION 
    

445/2019_20.01.2020-db  /… 

 

12 

 If it was simply a matter of a well-treated detainee, falling 

apart following apparent disclosures against comrades, there 

would be no need for such an elaborate and resource heavy cover -

up.  

 It is the task of this Honourable Court to determine what was 

being covered up.  We will submit that the answer is plain to see. 

They were covering up their unlawful role in the death of Neil 

Aggett.  Ultimately, they were covering up their role in his 

unrelenting torture and his killing.   M'Lord in this grubby pursuit 

the Security Branch was ably assisted by a corrupt magistracy. 10 

The magistrate in the 1982 Inquest was one, Pieter Kotzé, who 

incidentally was the prosecutor in the inquest that exonerated the 

police into the death, the inquest of the late Ahmed Timol, some 

ten years earlier.  In that inquest Kotzé distinguished himself by 

doing next to nothing to search for the truth.  Rather than 

conducting himself as an independent officer of the court he 

aligned himself with the case of the Security Branch.  

 M'Lord in Kotzé, the apartheid state had a pliant judicial 

officer who could be trusted to the right thing.  In Kotzé M’Lord the 

Security Branch were in safe hands – and they knew it. They 20 

simply had to go through the motions.  They simply had to play to 

the gallery.  Magistrate Kotzé’s court room was oppressive. Its 

benches were stacked with Security Branch officers, whose 

presence intimidated and deterred witnesses from testifying freely  

and truthfully.  Magistrate Kotzé played the role expected of him. 
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He intervened and curtailed cross-examination by the Aggett 

family’s counsel and often ruled that detainees’ statements were 

inadmissible.  

 He ignored evidence and reached grossly improbable 

conclusions that were nothing less than breath-taking.  M'Lord the 

State’s efforts succeeded admirably.  Magistrate Kotzé’s judgment 

in the first inquest exonerated the Security Branch.  He dismissed 

the detainees’ evidence of torture and concluded that nobody was 

to blame for Neil’s death in de tention.  

 History however tells a different story M'Lord.  History has 10 

since revealed the reality of what Neil endured in his 70 days of 

detention under the section 6 of the Terrorism Act.  

 In the Re-Opened Timol Inquest, the High Court as per 

Judge Mothle found that detention under the Terrorism Act , and I 

quote from that judgment M'Lord.  

“Became a tool in the hands of some members of the 

Security Branch, not only to torture but also to kill 

detainees with impunity.”  

The High Court’s finding was by no means novel.  Twenty years 

earlier, in its report, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission 20 

identified that torture in security detention was routine practice and 

the killing of detainees by the Security Brach was a “strong 

possibility”. 

 The Truth and Reconciliation Commission found that the 

pervasive and systematic torture inflicted upon detainees paired 
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with the inhumane conditions of their detention were sufficient to 

render suicides committed in detention as “induced suicides” for 

which the Security Branch was accountable. 

 M'Lord the truth of Neil’s death, back in the early 1980’s as a 

white detainee in particular, would have been a public relations 

disaster for the State both locally and internationally. This was, 

particularly at a time when the State was becoming increasingly 

conscious of the implications of its deteriorating international 

image, with the death M'Lord of Steven Biko which resulted in the 

French navy cutting key military contracts and ties with South 10 

Africa.  

 There was also the matter M'Lord of Lieutenant Stephan 

Whitehead, who will feature prominently in these proceedings.  He 

was an ambitious young security branch officer with powerful 

family ties in the force, for whom responsibility for Neil’s death 

would have spelt the end of his career.  

M'Lord I now wish to provide a broader outline of the family’s case 

that will be presented over the next days and weeks.  

 M'Lord it is the Aggett family’s firm belief that Neil was killed 

at the hands of the Security Branch officers, either directly or 20 

through unrelenting systematic torture, abuse and neglect which 

pushed him to take his own life, for which the relevant Security 

Branch officers must be held responsible for.   

 The theory of the case says that the police went to great 

lengths to cover up one of two possible causes of death; namely 
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that:  

 1 Neil’s suicide was induced by the conduct and 

circumstances brought about by the Security Branch; Neil was 

murdered by the Security Branch by staging his hanging while in 

an unconscious state.   

 I am dealing M'Lord first with the Conditions of his Detention.  

History has shown that the conditions of Neil’s detention bore no 

resemblance to the version that the Security Branch placed before 

the original inquest court.  We have conducted a number of 

witness consultations with former detainees that were held at John 10 

Vorster Square around the same time as Neil’s detention.  

 And M'Lord we will be placing similar fact evidence before 

this Court to demonstrate that that torture and ill -treatment at the 

hands of Security Branch at John Vorster Square at that time was 

routine and commonplace.  This torture ranged from abusive 

treatment such as sleep deprivation, humiliation and forced 

exercise to physical assault and electric shock treatment . 

 M'Lord I pause to pay tribute to those young men and women 

who stood up to the Apartheid state and as a result were terribly 

abused in detention.  M'Lord some of these individuals are in fact 20 

with us in court today.  People such as Barbara Hogan, 

Firoz Cachalia, Frank Chikane, Prema Naidoo, Jabu Ngwenya, 

Ismail Mamoniat, Sisa Njikelana, Auret van Heerden, Sydney 

Mufamadi, Ebrahim Ismail Ebrahim, Maurice Smithers, Gavin 

Andersson, Keith Coleman and many others.  
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 M'Lord we salute their courage.  

 We will corroborate the evidence of the detainees with the 

evidence of officials formerly in the employ of the Security Branch 

and police at John Vorster Square.  They will confirm that the 

abuse of detainees was a day to day reality .   

 M'Lord we are grateful that there are some former police 

officers who are willing to speak the truth of what really took place 

in John Vorster Square during those years.  We appreciate that in 

the early 1980’s they found themselves in a terrible predicament. 

They were required to lie under oath, fai ling which, not only would 10 

their livelihoods and careers be at risk but they themselves might 

be physically abused or worse.  

 They had every reason to fear the repercussions speaking 

the truth at that time.   While they did the commit the crime of 

perjury in lying under oath in the 1982 Inquest that crime has long 

prescribed and today, they face no legal consequences for now 

disclosing the truth.  Now M'Lord we encourage more police 

officers to come forward and unburden themselves and to help the 

Aggett family heal and reach closure.  

 To those former police officers, some of whom will appear  20 

before this Court under subpoena before this court, we say now is 

the time for honesty and the truth.  Those who testify honestly are 

likely to earn the gratitude of the Aggett family. Those who persist 

with the charade and cover-up must be held to account.  We 

remind these officers that those who lie under oath before these 
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proceedings will be committing the crime of perjury and we place 

them on notice.  We have instructions from the Aggett family to 

vigorously pursue cases of perjury against those who lie before 

this Court.  

 M'Lord I have alluded briefly to the elaborate cover up 

concocted by the State before the first inquest.  We will 

demonstrate that the investigat ion of Neil’s death was little more 

than a cover up from start to end.  The crime scene investigation in 

the cell was conducted in such a sloppy, inept and ham-fisted 

manner, by supposedly experienced police officers, that one must 10 

conclude they were simply taking steps to deflect attention from 

the truth of what happened.  

 M'Lord one of the very first tasks carried out by the 

investigating officer in 1982 was to retrieve a South African 

Communist Party document from the Security Branch files that had 

been doctored by the Security Branch to read that detainees 

should rather commit suicide than betray their comrades.  

 Indeed, this very same fabricated document was relied upon 

by the Magistrate in the first Timol Inquest to justify the finding that 

Ahmed Timol had committed suicide by jumping out the 10th floor 20 

of John Vorster Square. This speaks volumes as to the mind-set 

and aim of the police investigation.   

 Evidence will be led as to the strenuous and illegal attempts  

that were made to find evidence of so-called suicidal tendencies 

on the part of Neil.  As mentioned, an operation that was 
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authorised at the highest levels, involving Whitehead himself, 

included the illegal entry into the Aggett family home.  

 It is hardly surprising M'Lord that the cover-up programme 

included the bugging of the Aggett family lawyers, including the 

chambers of George Bizos (SC).  The gleaned information was 

then used to hold mock trials and to coach police officers on how 

to stick to the fabricated version.   

 Turning to the Medical Evidence.  We have considered the 

medical evidence before the first inquest court.  While the medical 

evidence points to death by hanging, M'Lord it does not exclude 10 

the possibility that Dr Aggett was murdered by a staged hanging in 

an unconscious, semiconscious or low-conscious State, and we 

lead fresh medical evidence in this regard.  We will call an 

experienced expert forensic pathologist to testify and he will 

confirm that a staged hanging cannot be excluded on a scrupulous 

examination of the available medical evidence.  He will also point 

out several shortcomings and mistakes in the post-mortem process 

that may have resulted in the missing or overlooking of important 

additional evidence of torture.   M'Lord the instrument of Neil’s 

death we are told was a cloth or kikoi that was found encircling 20 

Neil’s neck and double knotted just below his right ear.  The first 

inquest court found that the kikoi was given to Neil while he was in 

his cell and he was allowed to keep the cloth.   M'Lord we will lead 

evidence to show that the possession of such material in a security 

police cell would have amounted to a serious breach of the 
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prevailing police standing orders.  

 Detainee witnesses will testify that they were not permitted 

to even wear belts for fear of a detainee using a belt or other 

instruments such as shoelaces and even socks that could cause 

harm to themselves harm.  Indeed, Jill Burger recalls from her visit 

of Neil having seen Neil without a belt or shoelaces, both of which 

could potentially have been used by Neil to take his own life. 

 Evidence will be led that detainees were not even allowed to 

keep their towels following showers and that police officials 

regularly searched detainee’s cells to ensure that nothing illegal 10 

was in the cells.  They will say that if a kikoi was found it would 

have been confiscated.  M'Lord in 1982 no investigation was 

conducted by the Security Branch or the first inquest court as to 

why Neil was permitted to keep the kikoi in his cell, or who was to 

blame for this.   We will lead evidence on several other matters 

that tend to undermine the findings of the first inquest court.  

These include evidence that, one contrary to the claims of the 

Security Branch, they had unfettered access to detainees on the 

second-floor cells. 

 Secondly that cell visits were skipped during the very hours 20 

that Aggett was alleged to have committed suicide; and M’Lord the 

remarkable fact only one solitary fingerprint was lifted from the 

grille from which Aggett allegedly climbed and hanged himself.  A 

fingerprint expert will testify that this is unusual, to say the least. 

We will highlight how the Security Branch intentionally prevented 
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Neil from meeting with officials who might have intervened on his 

behalf.  We will consider the complaints of assault and abuse 

made by Neil himself; indeed, the last one made on the very 

morning of the alleged suicide.  The morning of 5 February. 

 We will submit that this is not the conduct of someone who 

had given up on life but rather the conduct of someone who was 

seeking redress and a reckoning with those who abused him. 

 M'Lord I now turn to the question of the long delay in the re -

opening inquest.  M'Lord what I am about to say is no reflection to 

my learned colleague, for the State.  They and the investigating 10 

officer have worked diligently to prepare for this inquest, and we 

have collaborated closely with them. 

 We all know of course M'Lord that this inquest as with all the 

apartheid-era cases, have been plagued by ongoing delays. We 

now know that this was not just a question of indifference or 

neglect on the part of the South African Police Service and the 

National Prosecuting Authority.   We now know that post the 

winding up of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission, decisions 

were taken at the highest poli tical level to close down the 

investigations into the cases referred by the Truth and 20 

Reconciliation Commission to the National Prosecuting Authority 

including the Aggett case and we refer to these cases as the TRC 

cases. M'Lord in the application brought at the end of 2018 by 

Joao Rodrigues to permanently stay the prosecution against him 

for his role in the murder of Ahmed Timol, the National Prosecuting 
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Authority filed papers on 4 February 2019, in which they finally 

admitted that political interference stopped the investigations into 

the Truth and Reconciliation Commission cases. And M'Lord I have 

given you the footnoted reference for that case and the relevant 

affidavit. 

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord such interference in our respectful view 

amounted to state capture of the criminal justice system in relation 

this class of cases.  It allowed powerful forces in society to impose 

their will on institutions meant to uphold the rule of law.  And 10 

through such State capture M'Lord they guaranteed total impunity 

for some of the most serious crimes ever committed in South 

Africa.  M'Lord we are talking close to four hundred serious murder 

cases that had been supressed and not being investigated at the 

behest of powerful elements in society.  

 Accordingly M'Lord it is remarkable that to date there has 

been no inquiry into this monumental travesty of justice, 

notwithstanding repeated calls for an inquiry by families the former 

TRC commissioners and a recommendation and indeed a 

recommendation by the full bench of this Honourable Court in the 20 

Rodrigues matter that it be addressed forthwith.  M'Lord that is the 

same case in footnote 4.   M'Lord the family’s representatives met 

with the then National Director of Public Prosecutors and members 

of his staff four years ago almost to this day, on 19 January 2016.   

 The family’s representatives provided the NDPP with 
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evidence warranting the reopening of the inquest.  Amongst the 

evidence that was presented included conclusive evidence that 

Security Branch members had perjured themselves in the first 

inquest on the question of torture.  This was enough M'Lord to 

warrant the reopening in 2016. 

 Yet it has taken 4 years to get today.  Several threats of 

legal action had to make against the NPA and Minister of Justice.  

And M'Lord the extensive delay has caused the Aggett family 

considerable stress and strain and indeed great prejudice. The key 

suspect in Neil’s death was his chief interrogator, Lieutenant 10 

Stephan Whitehead.  M'Lord Whitehead reportedly died in the very 

week that the Minister of Justice eventually announced the re-

opening of the Aggett inquest in April 2019.  And M'Lord he was 

only 62 or 63 years old at the time.   

 In our respect view had the NDPP and the Minister of Justice 

acted diligently and without delay fol lowing the meeting of 

January 2016, the Aggett inquest could potentially had been held 

before Whitehead’s death – and he could have been held to 

account for the role he played in Neil’s death.  

 M'Lord even after the Minister’s announcement in April last 20 

year there was more inaction and the family again had to threaten 

legal action to have the Minister’s decision communicated to the 

Judge President in terms of section 17(a) of the Inquests Act, 58 of 

1979, which was only done in August 2019.  

 M'Lord the Aggett family wishes to extend its gratitude to a 
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number of individuals and institutions that have made the re -

opening of this inquest possible.  Firstly, M'Lord the Judge 

President of this division, who upon receiving the Minister’s 

decision, acted expeditiously to procure the hearing of this matter. 

M'Lord he called us into a meeting within 24 hours of receiving the 

Minister’s directive. The family is grateful to him for his expeditious 

actions.  M'Lord Yasmin Soka who is also with us today, a former 

truth commissioner, and former head of the Foundation for Human 

Rights (FHR) has stood by the Aggett family and many other 

families through thick and thin.  We are enormously grateful to the 10 

Foundation for Human Rights for their support which made this 

investigation, our prime investigations possible.  Needless to say, 

this matter could not have happened without the sterling services 

of the Pro Bono Department of Webber Wentzel attorneys.   We are 

grateful to them.  Our Private investigator, Frank Dutton, 

painstakingly investigated this case.  M'Lord his past track record 

over many decades speaks for itself.  Without his backbreaking 

investigations this inquest would never have happened 

 M'Lord we must also pay tribute to the legal team led by 

George Bizos that carried out back breaking work in the early 20 

1980’s to find the truth in the most adverse of circumstances.  

These individuals of course counsel George Bizos and Dennis 

Kuny, also assisted by Mahomed Navsa; and the Bell, Dewar and 

Hall attorneys, including William Lane, David Dison, and James 

Sutherland.  
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 M'Lord they were up against a system that was stacked 

against them.  Today we simply build on their remarkable labour  

and work and we are indebted to them.  

 Lastly, we must thank the Neil Aggett Support Group (NASG) 

and the Food and Allied Workers Union (FAWU) for keeping the 

memory of Neil Aggett alive over so many years; and for pushing 

for justice, including the laying of criminal charges against 

Whitehead and others in 2014.  This was done M'Lord by the late 

Brian Sandberg and we wish to pay particular tribute to the late 

Brian Sanderberg who was formerly the Neil Aggett Support Group 10 

co-ordinator and Aggett’s long-time friend who he had known in 

school.  

 So M'Lord while there has been an inordinate delay in 

reopening this inquest it nonetheless a most historic day.  It marks 

the beginning of the road to closure for the Aggett family.  They 

would have preferred to be able to hold the central role players to 

account, most of whom have died, they are grateful that this 

inquest has been reopened.  

 In conclusion it is our intention to demonstrate that there are 

in fact people and institutions to blame for Neil’s death in 20 

detention; and that the first inquest finding of nobody to blame 

must be overturned.  We will show that a massive fraud was 

perpetrated before the first inquest court; and that the 

preponderance of probabilities points overwhelmingly to the fact 

that Neil died at the hands of Security Branch officers, either 
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directly or through systematic torture and neglect which led him to 

take his own life.  In either scenario, the relevant Security Branch 

officers must be held responsible for Neil’s death and an 

appropriate finding should be made in terms of section 16(2)(d) of 

the Inquest Act.   M'Lord and those are my opening statements.  

COURT:   Thank you counsel.  Mr Coetzee.  

MR COETZEE:   Thank you, M'Lord.   M'Lord we are by no 

means here to t ry and seek just i f icat ion of  any act  of  abuse or 

torture commit ted by any arm of  the Apartheids Government.  

On the basis of  our instruct ions we wi l l  endeavour to assist 10 

th is inquest to invest igate the circumstances of  the death of  

Doctor Aggett .   At  no doubt we wi l l  be faced with facts that are 

revealed,  that  are uncomfortable to hear,  and wi l l  be hurtfu l  to 

many.  I t  is  unfortunate that th is re -opening only take place 

38 years after the death of  Doctor Aggett  and some 25 years 

into our new democracy,  because i t  is  of  no doubt that  much of  

the evidence would have been lost  due to th is long durat ion of  

t ime.  And that  memories wi l l  be faded and would be to a 

certa in extent  not a l l  that  re l iable as i t  would have been al l  

that  t ime ago.  20 

 M'Lord may th is proceedings f ind the t ruth,  and may give 

heal ing to those in need of  i t .   Thank you.  

COURT:   Thank you very much Counsel.   Is there anyone else 
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who then want to make a presentat ion?  I f  any?  Who 

represents anybody else that is here?  Thank you.  At th is 

juncture we would break for tea al low Counsel to re -arrange 

themselves as to the presentat ion of  evidence.  We wi l l  ta ke a 

f i f teen-minute break.   Okay.  Thank you.  

COURT ADJOURNS       [11:17] 

---- ---- --- --- ---- --- -- --  

COURT RESUMES       [11:32] 

CLERK:   Recal l ing matter inquest of  Late Doctor Nei l  Hudson 

Aggett .    10 

COURT:   Thank you.  Yes.   You may proceed.   

MS SINGH:   M'Lord before we proceed.  The State is in 

possession of  subpoenas for a number of  witnesses that were 

subpoenaed by the invest igat ing off icer in th is matter.   As I 

understand i t ,  the only person that has made contact  with 

Counsel is Mr Deet lefs.  

COURT:   Yes. 

MS SINGH:   I t  is  for th is reason M'Lord that  the State would 

apply for a warrant of  arrest for the remainder of  the witnesses 

for the subpoenas which I  wish to hand in.   The State would 20 

request that  the warrant be held over unt i l  3 February 2020 so  

that  we can ascerta in exact ly the,  or the nature and the 

whereabout of  the witnesses.   M'Lord i t  would be in respect of  

Mr Lambrecht, Ms Visser.  

COURT:   Mr Lambrecht,  yes.  
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MS SINGH:   Ms Visser M'Lord.  

COURT:   Ms Pitzer?  

MS SINGH:   Ms Visser M'Lord.  

COURT:   Visser.   Okay.  

MS SINGH:   Yes, Visser M'Lord.   Mr Zeel ie.  Mr Naude, 

Mr Venter.   And I would s imply hand over the subpoenas for 

Mr Erasmus who wi l l  be test i fying and Mr Deet lefs who is 

presented.  As the court  p leases M'Lord.   I  beg leave to hand 

in the subpoenas.  The State would then cal l  Warrant Off icer 

Frank Kgamanyane to the witness stand.  10 

COURT:   Yes.   So,  were the subpoenas served? 

MS SINGH:   Indeed M'Lord, and i t  has been personal services 

in respect of  a l l  the witnesses.  

COURT:   So, the warrants can only be authorised at  the 

conclusion of  the day today.  I f  they are not  here today.  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord what we would ask for,  because we do not 

know the exact  posi t ion re lat ing to legal services,  we would 

ask for i t  to be held over unt i l  3  February 2020. 

COURT:   Alr ight .  

MS SINGH:   As the court  p leases M'Lord.    20 

COURT:   Do you want me to do the order now?  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord we can leave i t  unt i l  the end of  the day.  

COURT:   Okay.  Thank you.  

MS SINGH:   As the court  p leases M'Lord.   May the  witness be 

sworn in M'Lord.  
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FRANK KGAMANYANE:   duly sworn states.  

EXAMINATION BY MS SINGH:   Warrant you must p lease ra ise 

your voice.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Okay Ma'am. 

MS SINGH:   Sir  is i t  correct  that  you are a member of  the 

South Af r ican Pol ice Services.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   Where are you stat ioned? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  am stat ioned at  Directorate for Pr ior i ty 

Crime Invest igat ion M'Lord.   DPCI under Crimes Against  the 10 

State in Pretor ia.  

MS SINGH:   You hold a rank of  a Warrant Off icer.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   And how many years’ service  do you have to 

date? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   12 years’ service .  

MS SINGH:   In the South Af r ican Pol ice.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   Now sir  what is the purpose of ,  i f  I  were to put  i t 

to you, the DPCI and CATS, Crimes  against  the State,  is one 20 

and the same unit .   What is the purpose of  these units,  or the 

uni t  in  part icular?  

MS MARKET:   Our uni t  is mandated to invest igate,  especia l ly 

th is Truth and Reconci l ia t ion cases.  That is wh y I  am an 

invest igator of  a Doctor Aggett .   The inquest was regis tered at 
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our off ice.  

COURT:   Just  ra ise your voice Warrant Off icer p lease.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  wi l l  do that  M'Lord.  

COURT:   Yes. 

MS SINGH:   Now Warrant when did you receive instruct ions to 

proceed with the invest igat ion into th is matter?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  was instructed on May 2019.  

MS SINGH:   Pr ior to May 2019, who was the invest igat ing 

off icer in th is matter?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   The invest igat ing off icer was my 10 

col league.  Captain Benjamin Nel.  

COURT:   Captain Benjamin who? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Nel.  

MS SINGH:   Now sir  when you started your invest igat ion, 

p lease test i fy about what you did regarding the record in 

part icular.   Start  r ight  at  the beginning.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   When I  start  my invest igat ion,  I  received 

a f i le  f rom Doctor Pistor ius f rom Prior i ty Crime Li t igat ion Unit.   

PCLU in Pretor ia.  

MS SINGH:   Sorry Warrant just before you proceed.  I t  is 20 

correct  that  you prepared an aff idavi t  in  respect of  your 

evidence that  you are going to give.   Am I correct?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   And you also prepared an index regarding the 

annexures that are at tached to your aff idavi t .   Am I correct?  
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MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.  

COURT:   M'Lord I beg leave to hand in a copy to the Court.   

Al l  learned Counsel have got copies.  

COURT:   Yes. 

MS SINGH:   As wel l  as the index,  which wi l l  make i t  easy to 

fo l low.   

COURT:   Okay.   

MS SINGH:   I  am going to refer to refer you to paragraph 3 

sir.   What documents d id you rece ive? 

COURT:   Sorry what annexure did you mark th is aff idavi t .  10 

MS SINGH:   M'Lord the exhib i ts that  were handed were 

handed, the or iginal  inquest where,  let  me then mark th is 

EXHIBIT F. 

COURT:   EXHIBIT F.  

MS SINGH:   Yes M'Lord,  and then al l  the accompani ed 

annexures wi l l  fo l low thereafter.  

COURT:   Okay.  You may proceed.  

MS SINGH:   Thank you, M'Lord.   Warrant Kgamanyane what 

documents d id you receive f rom Doctor Pretor ius.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  received newspaper art ic les perta in ing 20 

to Doctor Nei l  Aggett  marked as annexure FGK(1)(1).  

Document f rom Bel l  and Door and Hal ls perta in ing to 

Doctor Aggett  marked FGK(1)(2).   Supplementary argument on 

behalf  of  the Aggett  family marked as FGK(1)(3).    

MS SINGH:   Proceed. 
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MR KGAMANYANE:   Said supplementary to repo rt  by Bel l  and 

Door and Hal l marked as FGK(1) (4).   Conf ident ia l  

correspondence f rom Bel l  and Door and Hal l  dated 4 October 

1982.  Marked as FGK(1)(5).   Correspondence f rom Bel l  and 

Door and Hal l  dated 31 March 1983.  Marked as FGK (1) (6).  

MS SINGH:   Yes.  Correspondence Raymond Heckard to 

Mul ler and Company dated 24 May 1982.  Marked as 

FGK(1)(7).   Aff idavi t  of  Auret  van Heerden dated 20 September 

1982.  Marked as FGK(1)(8).   Documentat ion f rom the 

Supreme Court  in case number 6533/82.  Marked as 10 

FGK(1)(9) .   Heads of  argument in case number 139/82.  

Marked as FGK(1)(10).   And last ly sworn aff idavi t  of  Petrus 

Arnoldus Jacques Kotzé.   Marked as FGK(1)(11).  

MS SINGH:   When you received these documents marked 

FGK(1) up to FGK(11) what d id you do with the docum ents 

Warrant? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  compi led a f i led marked as annexure 

FGK(1).  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord I  beg leave to hand in the f i rst  f i le . 

COURT:   Okay.  So the present FGK(1) wi l l  include FGK(1)  up 20 

to FGK(11).  

MS SINGH:   That is correct .  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct .  

COURT:   Thank you.  

MS SINGH:   Thank you.  
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MS SINGH:   What e lse did you do Warrant.   What happened 

thereafter? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  then received two f i les f rom Adv Chris 

McAdam f rom Prior i ty Crime Invest igat ion Unit  f rom Pretor ia.  

MS SINGH:   What are the contents of  the docket?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   The contents of the f i les,  i t  is  a calendar 

for the year 1981.  Marked as FGK(2)(1).  

MS SINGH:   Proceed. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   A te lephone l ist  contain ing the names 

and the extensions of  pol ice off ic ials in the WLD.  Marked 10 

FGK(2)(2).   A f i le marked Directorate of  Securi ty Legis lat ion 

Aggett  Nei l ,  H.   Marked as FGK(2)(3).   A f i le  marked Woman 

Rights Vio lat ion Protocol.   CT11400.  Marked as FGK(2)(4).   A 

f i le  marked Dipale E M.   Marked as FGK(2)(5).   And ot her 

documents which I have marked FGK(2)(6).  

MS SINGH:   Would I  be correct to say that  al l  those 

documents as you test i f ied about ,  they are f i led in f i le  two.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct .  

MS SINGH:   I  beg leave M'Lord to hand in f i le  two.  

COURT:   Thank you.  20 

MS SINGH:   Now in terms of  paragraph 5.  From paragraph 5.  

That is the day af ter you obtain a copy of  the docket.   What d id 

you do? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   At  f i rst ,  I  vis i ted John Vorster Square 

pol ice stat ion where Doctor Aggett  was detained in 1982 .  To 
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t ry and trace if  I  can found any or iginal  dockets or re lated 

documents of  the inquest of  Doctor Nei l  Aggett .  

MS SINGH:   Did you f ind anything?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Nothing was found Ma'am.  

MS SINGH:   Did you get any conf i rmat ion f rom any senior 

members of  the pol ice service regarding th is search? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.   I  was assisted by Colonel 

Edwards who explained his dut ies on t rying and tracing the 

or iginal  dockets and documents f rom the pol ice stat ion,  and he 

could not  f ind anything.  10 

MS SINGH:   Is i t  correct  that  you obtained an off ic ia l  let ter?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MS SINGH:   What is i t  marked?  What annexure is i t?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  marked as FGK(3).  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord the fo l lowing documents are then f i le  3.    

COURT:   Okay.  

MS SINGH:   I  wi l l  hand i t  in at  the end of  th is port ion of 

evidence. 

COURT:   Very wel l  then.  

MS SINGH:   Thank you M'Lord.   Af ter you had f in ished at  John 20 

Vorster Pol ice Stat ion where else did you go Warrant?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  then vis i ted  the Johannesburg 

Magistrate Court  where the previous inquest of  Doctor Nei l 

Aggett  was held in 1982.  

MS SINGH:   Did you obtain a copy of  the record?  



MS SINGH   MR KGAMANYANE 
    

445/2019_20.01.2020-db  /… 

 

34 

MR KGAMANYANE:   There was no records found.  

MS SINGH:   And you conf i rmed th is with who?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  conf i rmed with the Inquest Clerk.   

Mrs Heida Venter on 14 October 2019.  

MS SINGH:   Did you obtain something in wri t ing f rom her to 

th is effect? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   He gave us a let ter regarding i t .  

MS SINGH:   And i t  is  your annexure marked, what is the 

annexure number? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  marked as FGK(4).  10 

MS SINGH:   Now Warrant why is i t  that  there are no inquest 

records avai lable? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  was informed by Inquest Clerk, 

Mrs Heida Venter the pol icy of  the Department of  Just ice dated 

13 June 1986 provides for the destruct ion of  an inquest 

records after a period of  ten years.  

MS SINGH:   So,  the inquest record was destroyed.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MS SINGH:   The pol icy document.   Did you obtain  a copy 

thereof?  What is the  reference number? 20 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  marked as FGK(5).   That is pol icy 

authori ty f rom the Department of  Justice.  

MS SINGH:   Proceed with your evidence to t ry and obtain a 

copy of  the record.  Where else did you t ry?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  a lso approached the off ice of  South 
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Af r ican Nat ional Archives to t ry and trace if  they have got any 

copy of  inquest of  Doctor Aggett .  

MS SINGH:   Yes.   And? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   And there was nothing found at  the 

Nat ional Archives.  

MS SINGH:   Did you receive any f i le  in respect of Doctor 

Aggett  h imself .    

MR KGAMANYANE:   Only a copy of  detainee f i les of  Doctor 

Nei l  Aggett  was found.  

MS SINGH:   Proceed.  Anywhere else? 10 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then I  a lso request f rom the 

representat ive of  the Aggett  family.  

MS SINGH:   Right.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I f  they have any informat ion of  any 

records that  could help us with our invest igat ion of  a f resh 

inquest.   Then there was no records found.  

MS SINGH:   When you ta lk about the representat ives,  in 

which matter is th is Warrant?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   They represented the family during the 

civi l  c la im that  was inst i tuted.  20 

MS SINGH:   When your documents were found, where else did 

you go? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  then t raced al l  the records f rom 

Universi ty of  W itwatersrand.  

MS SINGH:   What d id you do? 
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MR KGAMANYANE:   I  vis i ted the archives.  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   At  W its.  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   And I  was assisted by the Curator 

Mrs Gabrie l  Mohale.  

MS SINGH:   What exhib i ts, what inquest record did you get 

Warrant.   What numbers? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   From the website that  I  was given by the, 

by Mrs Mohale I  downloaded document consist ing of  3707 10 

pages.  Three, seven, zero,  seven pages of  the record.    

MS SINGH:   Okay.  They amount of  exhib i t ,  which alphabets in 

part icular.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   As wel l  as exhib i t  marked (a) to (e).  

MS SINGH:   Do you have a copy there for the Court?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  Ma'am.  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord I  beg leave then to hand in a l l  the 

exhib i ts.   They are marked on the side f rom (a) to (e).   You 

may then hand al l  the documents in Warrant.  

COURT:   Okay so wi l l  that  include the inquest record found at 20 

Wits.  

MS SINGH:   This is what he is ta lk ing about M'Lord.  I t  was 

found exhib i t  (a) Warrant and proceed to hand i t  over to h is 

Lordship.   There are 14 volumes M'Lord. 

COURT:   Fourteen.  
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MR KGAMANYANE:   Al l  the volumes of  the record.  

COURT:   14 volumes.  Thank you.  So, the 14 volumes are 

marked Annexures (a) to (e).   Yes.  

MS SINGH:   May I proceed M'Lord? 

COURT:   Yes.   You may proceed now.  

MS SINGH:   Now Warrant you also are in possession of  a 

consol idated l ist  which is an index to the record.   Am I  correct?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   And what is i t  f i led in your statement as?  You are 

start ing at  paragraph 8.  10 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  marked as FGK(6).  

MS SINGH:   Now Warrant when you went through the record, 

is the record complete or are there port ions that  are missing?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   There are some, l imited port ion that  is 

missing f rom the record.  

MS SINGH:   Can you te l l  us which por t ions are missing?  In 

part icular ident if ied annexures.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   The fo l lowing records were missing f rom 

the records.   I tem B(1).  

MS SINGH:   Yes.   20 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Statement of  Sergeant J Achenbach.  

Page 92.  I tem B(2),  docket volume 2.  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I tem B(3.1.3).  Barbara Hogan.  C is 

missing.   Not submitted.   I tem B(6.1 ).   Vorster Carr ied 
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aff idavi t .   Missing.   Not submit ted.  I tem B(7.5).   West L G 

psychosis of  s leep deprivat ion.   Missing.   Not submit ted.   I tem 

B(1),  volume 2 and volume 3 of  volume 1 are missing.   Not 

submitted.   I t  B(4.1.3),  statement of  Auret  van Heerden is 

missing.   Not submit ted.   I tem B(3.5.19).   Statement by 

Barbara Hogan is not  included.  I tem B(4.2.2).   Statement by 

Barbara Hogan is missing.   Not subm it ted. 

MS SINGH:   Now what efforts d id you undertake to ascerta in 

the whereabouts of  th is missing documents, i f  anything at  a l l?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  then went back to W its archive to see 10 

Mrs Gabrie l  Mohale.  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   To conf i rm, i f  on their  s ide is i t  

everyth ing that  ref lects on her records that has been 

downloaded f rom the website that was given by her.   Then she 

conf i rmed that  the documents,  she conf i rmed that  the onl ine 

directory was a correct  ref lect ion of  what was uploaded 

according to her.  

MS SINGH:   Now subsequent ly then going through the inquest 

record you f ind that  there are no photo graphs regarding the 20 

post-mortem or the cr ime scene.  Did you look for photographs 

of  the cr ime scene or the photographs of  the post-mortem in 

part icular.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.   

MS SINGH:   Tel l  us what happened.  
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MR KGAMANYANE:   In i t ia l ly I  was informed by Mrs Gabriel 

Mohale that there are photographs of  Doctor Nei l  Aggett .    

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then when I went to check at  the W its 

archives,  I  could not  f ind any of  the photographs.  Specif ical ly,  

I  was looking for the post -mortem photographs and the cr ime 

scene photographs.  

MS SINGH:   Did you ascerta in why in i t ia l ly you were to ld 

there are photographs and now there were non e? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes.   I  d id ask her.  10 

MS SINGH:   And what was the response? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then I  could not  get  a response  based on 

that .  

MS SINGH:   Did you subsequent ly obtained photographs of  

Doctor Aggett?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   How many photographs?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  have got four copies of  Doctor Nei l 

Aggett  hanging in a cel l .   Number 209.  

MS SINGH:   And where did you get those photographs or 20 

those copies of  the photographs f rom?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  got i t  f rom the legal f i rm of  Doctor Nei l 

Aggett  family.  

ACCUSED:   And what annexure has i t  been handed in? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   FGK(7)(1)-Y(4).  
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MS SINGH:   As part  of  your invest igat ion is i t  a lso correct  that 

you obtained of  your documents that  a number of  laws that 

were prevai l ing a t  the t ime.  Am I  correct?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   Can you inform the Court  as to what laws you 

obtained? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Inquest Act 58 of  1959.  Marked as 

FGK(8)(1).   The suppression of  Communism Act 44 of  1950 

marked as FGK(8)(2).   The General  Law Amendment Act  37 of  

1963.  Marked as FGK(8)(3) .   Based on that.  10 

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   The Terror ism Act 83 of  1967.  Marked as 

FGK8(4) 

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   The General Law Amendment Act  76 of 

1962.  Marked as FGK(8)(5).   The Internal Securi ty Act  79 of 

1976.  Marked as FGK(8)(6).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then last ly Promot ion of  Nat ional Unity 

and Reconci l ia t ion Act  34 of  1995, marked FGK (8)(7).  20 

MS SINGH:   Okay.  Now further as part  of  your invest igat ion, 

d id you vis i t  the cel ls at  John Vorster Square?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   What d id you do there? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   On my arr ival  at  John Vorster Square 
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pol ice stat ion I  cal led the LCRC to help with a photo album.   

MS SINGH:   Who is the LCRC.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  was assisted by Constable Mothupi f rom 

the LCRC in Johannesburg.  

MS SINGH:   What does LCRC stand for?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Local Criminal Record Centre.  

MS SINGH:   And did you compi le an album? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  Constable Mothupi d id compi le a 

photo album. 

MS SINGH:   What e lse did you do Warrant?  10 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  a lso obtained the plans of  John Vorster 

pol ice stat ion.   

MS SINGH:   From the Department of  Publ ic Works in Pretor ia.    

MS SINGH:   Do you have any specia l  requests regardi ng the 

cr ime scene photo album as wel l  as the John Vorster Square 

album.  I  beg your pardon, the plans.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   What are they? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Regarding the photo album that  was 

compi led by Constable Mothupi.   And the plan s,  the plans f rom 20 

the pol ice stat ion.    

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  better,  i t  is  not  going to be publ ic 

because of  the securi ty reasons.   

MS SINGH:   Okay.  
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MR KGAMANYANE:   These people they can know about the 

plans of  the pol ice stat ion.  I t  can cause a problem for the 

SAPS. 

MS SINGH:   So, you are asking for i t  to not be disclosed to 

the publ ic.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

COURT:   The plans? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   And the photo album document.  

MS SINGH:   Now as part  of  your further  invest igat ion,  you 

also read publ ished books.   Am I correct?  10 

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct .  

MS SINGH:   Can you inform the Court  what you did?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  read the fo l lowing books.   Ti t le –  No 

One To Blame by George Bizos.   Marked FGK(11)(1).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   The t i t le ,  Detent ion and Torture in South -

Afr ica by Don Vorster who then is Dennis and Dianne Zandra 

marked as FGK(11)(2).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   And also newspaper art ic les re lat ing to 20 

the death of  Doctor Nei l  Aggett .   Marked as FGK(11)(3).  

MS SINGH:   Yes.   What e lse? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   The t i t le,  Pol i t ical  Imprisonment in South -

Afr ica,  Amnesty Internat ional Report .   Marked FGK (11)(4).  

MS SINGH:   Now Warrant dur ing the course of  your 
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invest igat ion,  you also at tempted to ascerta in the whereabouts 

of  a number of  pol ice off ic ia ls or witnesses who may have 

been direct ly or indirect ly involved in Doctor Aggett ’s death.  

Am I correct? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MS SINGH:   Alr ight .   Let  us start  wi th the  f i rst  person.  Who 

did you t ry and trace and did you t race him?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Constable Magezi Eddie Chauke.  

MS SINGH:   Did you t race him? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  10 

MS SINGH:   When did you make contact  with h im?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  made contact  with Magezi  Eddie 

Chauke on 18 January.  

MS SINGH:   And is he wi l l ing to test i fy?  

COURT:   Just  a minute.  Is i t  10 years ago.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  a spel l ing error there.   I t  is  2020.  

COURT:   Okay.  So,  i t  be 2020. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   2020.  18 January 2020.  

MS SINGH:   Typing error M'Lord.   2020.  

COURT:   Yes. 20 

MS SINGH:   Apologies M'Lord.  

COURT:   Yes.   Who else? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Also,  Adonis.  

MS SINGH:   Were you able to t race th is person?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   There is no surname and unable to t race 
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him.  No records.  

MS SINGH:   Proceed.  Who else? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Warrant Off icer Wynand Lambrecht.   

MS SINGH:   Did you subpoena him? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   No statement submitted.  

MS SINGH:   Proceed.  Who else? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Sergeant  Aletta Gertru ida Blom.  Now i t  

is  Visser.   The surname.  

MS SINGH:   Did you subpoena her?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  10 

MS SINGH:   Statement submitted? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   No statement submitted.  

MS SINGH:   Who else? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Constable Daniel  Hendrik Petrus Zeel ie .  

Subpoenaed.  No statement submit ted.  

MS SINGH:   Who else? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Constable John Edward Lloyd.  

Subpoenaed via e -mai l .   No statement submit ted.  

MS SINGH:   Who else? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Sergeant Michael Stefan Joubert .   Unable 20 

to t race him.  No prof i le t raced.  

MS SINGH:   Okay.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Hendrik van der Merwe.  No records.  

Unable to t race him.  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 
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MR KGAMANYANE:   Van Zyl .   Unable to t race him.  No f i rst 

names. 

MS SINGH:   Proceed. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Captain Mart in Johan Naude.  

Subpoenaed.  No s tatement submit ted.  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Constable C J J Smit .   Contact  made.  He 

suffered a heart attack.  

MS SINGH:   So, you were unable to ascerta in h is 

whereabouts.  10 

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MS SINGH:   Proceed. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   L ieutenant Roelf  Johannes Venter.  

Subpoenaed.  No statement submit ted to me.  

MS SINGH:   Okay.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Warrant Off icer Nicolaas Johannes 

Deet lefs.   Subpoenaed.  No statement submit ted to me.  

Advised not to submit  a statement.  

MS SINGH:   Okay.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Sergeant Paul Erasmus.   Subpoenaed.  20 

His statement submit ted in Timol inquest as wel l  as the Truth 

and Reconci l ia t ion,  TRC.  

MS SINGH:   Now sir  is i t  a lso correct  that  you ascerta in the 

number of  pol ice off ic ia ls that are also decease d? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   
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MS SINGH:   Did you obtain death cert i f icates?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   Now Warrant dur ing the course of  your 

invest igat ion,  is i t  correct  that you also requested copies of  

pol ice off ic ia ls? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MS SINGH:   Who did you request i t  f rom? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  have made a request to the off ice of  

Legal Services in Pretor ia.   Off ice  of  General  van der Walt .   

MS SINGH:   You have a copy of  your correspondence.  Can 10 

you te l l  the Court  what is the index number?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  marked FGK(13).   The request is 

dated 16 September 2019.  

MS SINGH:   Is i t  correct  that  you appl ied for the pol ice f i les of  

twenty-four pol ice off ic ia ls.   Am I  correct?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   You wi l l  read the names of  the pol ice off icers into 

the Court .  

MR KGAMANYANE:   The f i les that  I  have made request is.    

“J Achenbach.  N J Deet lefs.   M C Joubert .   M S 20 

Joubert .   C W  Lambrecht.   J E Lloyd.  C Ma goro.   D 

D Mahoney.  M G Maketa.   J S Marais.   A Mart in.  M 

J Naudé.  D J Oosthuizen.  J C Pretor ius.  L C P 

Prins.   C S Scho ltz.   M P Selolo.   J J Steyn.  J C 

Strauss.   A A Struwig.   T J Swanepoel.   C H van der 
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Merwe.  S P Whitehead.  D H P Zeel ie . ”  

MS SINGH:   Now of  the twenty-four f i les that  you have 

requested, how many f i les d id you receive?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Only e ight  f i les were received.  

MS SINGH:   Tel l  us the names of  the eight  f i les that you have 

received? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   M P Sehloho.  Marked FGK(13)(1).   The 

second f i le , M S Joubert .   Marked FGK (13)(2).   The th ird f i le 

M C Joubert .   Marked FGK(13)(3).  The fourth f i le,  C H van der 

Merwe marked FGK(13)(4).   The f i f th f i le , M G Maketha.  10 

Marked FGK(13)(5).  

MS SINGH:   Stop there Warrant.   M'Lord th is wi l l  br ing us to 

the end of  f i le  4.  Please hand that in.  

COURT:   Okay.  Fi le 4.  

MS SINGH:   And the remaining three f i les Warrant?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   N J Deet lefs.   Marked FGK(13)(6).   M J 

Naude.  Marked FGK(13)(7).   And then last ly J Achenbach.  

Marked FGK13(8).  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord that  wi l l  br ing us to the end of  f i le  5.   May 

that  be handed in? 20 

COURT:   Yes. 

MS SINGH:   Now Warrant,  th is remaining sixteen f i les,  what 

happens to them? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   When I  received the f i les f rom 

Captain Derksen f rom the Legal Service,  f rom General 
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Groenewald’s Off ice,  she to ld me th is is the only f i les,  e ight 

f i les that  she could manage to t race f rom her archives.  

MS SINGH:   And the remaining sixteen f i les,  you do not know 

what happened to i t?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  do not know what happened to the 

remaining sixteen f i les.  

MS SINGH:   Now when you received these eight  f i les,  were 

you given the or iginals.   How does i t  work?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  was given the or iginals of  the eight 

f i les.  10 

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then I  was to ld not  to leave the off ice 

with those f i les.  Then I was to ld I  must make copies and leave 

the f i les with the off ice.   Then I  was just  shown the photocopy 

machine.  Then I  only d id the copies of  those eight  f i les.    

MS SINGH:   And you personal ly  at tended to the eight  f i les?  

The copy.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   Now Warrant is i t  a lso correct  that  you appl ied for 

detainee f i les.   Would I  be correct?  20 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  that  is correct  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   Who did you apply to? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  made a request to Nat ional Archives in 

Pretor ia,  to Mr Gerhard Wagner.    

MS SINGH:   Yes. 
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MR KGAMANYANE:   In October 2019.  

MS SINGH:   Yes,  and? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   About the detainee f i les.  

MS SINGH:   Yes.   

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then I was informed that the detainee 

f i les that  I  have requested, i t  is  the same as that  my col league 

Captain Benjamin Nel made a request on 8 January 2018, and 

there was a copy that was signed by him, when he made a 

request to the Nat ional Archives.   Then I  was handed over that 

copy of  h is s ignature.  10 

MS SINGH:   Do you have a copy of  i t?  What d id you 

annexure i t?  What d id you mark i t  as?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  marked as FGK(14).  

MS SINGH:   Now did you receive the f i les and on what date?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  then approached Captain Nel to assist 

me with the detainee f i les that the requested f rom the Nat ional 

Archives.   Then I  received the f i les f rom Captain B urnie,  at the 

off ices of  Pr ior i ty Crime Li t igat ion Unit  in Pretor ia.  

MS SINGH:   On what date? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  was on 1 November 2019.  20 

MS SINGH:   What f i les d id you receive?  Can you 

. . . [ in tervenes].   

MR KGAMANYANE:   Seventeen f i les we received f rom him.  

MS SINGH:   Alr ight .   You have the copies of  the f i les there 

with you? 
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MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MS SINGH:   Right.   Read into the record what f i les you have 

receive.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   “Firoz Cachal ia  i t  is  marked as 

FGK(14)(1).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Frank Chikane.  I t  is  marked FGK(14)(2).  

Keith Coleman.  Marked FGK(14)(3).  

MS SINGH:   Is i t  Kei th Coleman? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Ja, Keith Coleman.  10 

MS SINGH:   Right.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then Ernest Dipale.   Marked FGK(14)(4).  

MS SINGH:   Proceed. 

COURT:   Is FGK or FKG? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  FGK M'Lord.   I  th ink there is a typing 

error a lso on the numbering S, but  on the f i les i t  is  correct .  

COURT:   So i t  is  a l l  FGK, others are reading FKG.  Because 

one is . . . [ intervenes].   

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  a l l  FGK M'Lord.  

COURT:   Number 3 and number 4 are reading FKG 20 

. . . [ in tervenes].   

MR KGAMANYANE:   FKG . . . [ in tervenes].   

COURT:   So i t  should be the other way around?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord that  would br ing us to the end of  f i le  6.  
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You may hand that in Warrant.   

MS SINGH:   Proceed.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   El izabeth Floyd.  Marked FGK(14)(6).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Barbara Hogan.  Marked FGK(14)(7).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Thabo Simpson Leruma.  Marked 

FGK(14)(8).  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord that  br ings us to the end of  volume 7.  

May the f i le  be handed in.  10 

COURT:   Just  hold on.   

MS SINGH:   Proceed Warrant.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then Eric Mtonga.  Marked FGK(14)(9).    

MS SINGH:   Proceed.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Ismai l  Mamoniat .  Marked FGK(14)(10).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Parmenat in Naidoo.  Marked 

FGK(14)(11).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Shir ish Nanabhai.   Marked FGK(14)(12).  20 

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Gabrie l  Jabulani  Ngwenya.  Marked 

FGK(14)(13).  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord that  br ings us to the end of  Volume 8.  

May the f i le  be handed in? 
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MS SINGH:   Warrant you can just refer to your index.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Okay. 

MS SINGH:   Ja,  we do not need to check i t .   Who else 

Warrant? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Then Sisa Nj ikelana.  Marked 

FGK(14)(14).  

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Morr is Peters Smit .   Marked 

FGK(14)(15).   Auret  van Heerden.  Marked FGK(14)(16).  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord that  br ings us to the end of  volume 9.  10 

May that  be handed in? 

COURT:   Okay.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   And then during my consultat ion with 

Mr Erasmus on 5 December 2019 he handed a copy of  a 

photograph.  Marked 392/82 on the reverse side of  i t .  

MS SINGH:   Okay.  Did you take i t  in  as an exhib i t?  What 

number d id you al locate to i t? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  have marked i t  as FGK15.  

MS SINGH:   Right.   What e lse did you get f rom Mr Erasmus? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  a lso received a reel  of  tape f rom 20 

Mr Erasmus. 

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   He advised that  the reel  was used in 

Niagara spy machines which was used to the Specia l  Branch to 

record conversat ion secret ly.   And Mr Erasmus al leges that he 
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might have recorded the conversat ion with one of  the chief 

interrogators.   L ieutenant Whitehead, and that  the reel  might 

contain vulnerable evidence regarding Doctor Aggett .    

MS SINGH:   Now th is Niagara spy machine, were you able to 

get  hold i t ,  to p lay the reel  back?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   At tempt has been made to get  the 

Niagara machine.  Domest ical ly,  but  we are st i l l  in  the process 

of  get t ing the machine, and I  have made contact  with the audio 

laborator ies and informers to assist  i f  they have any the 

Niagara machine the reel .  10 

MS SINGH:   Where is the reel  at  the moment Warrant? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   The reel is in my possession.   I  have 

sealed i t  in  an evidence bag PAD00207A762.   

MS SINGH:   From the t ime that you received i t  f rom 

Mr Erasmus up unt i l  now.  Was the reel  damaged in any way?  

Contaminated.  Did you interfere with the reel? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   No Ma'am I  d id not  even touch the reel.   

I t  is  sealed l ike I  have received f rom Mr Erasmus.  

MS SINGH:   You have consulted with a Professor Haroon who 

is going to test i fy.   Am I  correct?  20 

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MS SINGH:   Alr ight .   There was a gent lemen’s name who has 

come up, Mr Auret van Heerden.  Can you inform the Court  to 

what efforts you undertook to t ry and trace him?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   During the course of  my invest igat ion, I  
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have tr ied to make contact  with Mr Auret  van Heerden.    

MS SINGH:   Yes. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   In May 2019.  I  have sent h im an e -mail 

and expla ined the reason regarding the inquest of  Doctor Nei l 

Aggett .  

MS SINGH:   Yes.    

MR KGAMANYANE:   And then since he has promised he wi l l  

come back to then, then since then I  have not received any 

contact  f rom him.  

MS SINGH:   Where is . . . [ in tervenes].  10 

MR KGAMANYANE:   He never responded.  

MS SINGH:   Where is Mr van Heerden l iving?  Do you know? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   He stays in overseas.  

MS SINGH:   Okay.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   According to our conversat ion in our e -

mai l .   He was not around South -Afr ica.  

MS SINGH:   Now sir  is i t  a lso correct  that  you obtained a l is t 

of  detainees who died in detent ion.   Is that correct?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  that  is correct  Ma'am.  

MS SINGH:   What number d id you number d id you annexure.  20 

What d id you mark i t?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  have marked FGK(16).  

MS SINGH:   Is i t  a lso correct  that  you downloaded a number 

of  documents f rom the SAHA websi te.  

COURT:   What is that , what s i te?  
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MS SINGH:   M'Lord if  I  can just SAHA stands for what,  what is 

i t  for?  Warrant what is i t  cal led.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   South Af r ican History Archives.  

MS SINGH:   Alr ight .   Tel l  us what you have downloaded.  You 

do not have to look at  i t .   You just  need to read i t  in to the 

record. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Okay.  I  downloaded.  Roelf  Jacobus 

Venter.   Amnesty appl icat ion.  AM2774/96.  And i t  is marked 

FGK17(1).   And Wikus Johannes Loots.  Amnesty appl icat ion.  

AM4419/96.  Marked FGK17(2).   I t  is  together with Gideon 10 

Jacobus van Zyl ,  Johannes Steyn.  Christoffe l  Johannes Smit,  

Isak Johannes Marais.   W i l l iam Charles C Smit .   Daniel 

Johannes Niewenhuys.  Phi l l ip  Rudolph Kraus.   Then I a lso 

downloaded Paul Francis Erasmus Eric.   Amnesty Appl icat ion.  

AM4158/96.  Goosen and Gerr ie.   Leon Pol lock.   3609/96 and 

2538/96.  Marked FGK17(6).   Auret  van Heerden.  Amnesty 

appl icat ion AM3690/96.  Marked FGK17(4).  W i l l iam Charles 

Ceci l  Smit .   Amnesty appl icat ion.  AM5469/97.  Marked 

FGK17(5).   El izabeth Floyd.  Submissions.   Marked 

FGK(17)(6).   Doctor Coleman.  A specia l  hearing.   Marked 20 

FGK(17)(7).   The judic iary.   Dated 27 October 1997.  Marked 

FGK(17)(8).   And last ly Charles Alf red Zeel ie .   Amnesty 

Appl icat ion.   AM3751/96.  Marked FGK(17)(9).  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord that  br ings us to the last  volume to be 

handed in.   I  have nothing further for th is witness M'Lord.  
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COURT:   Thank you.  Are there any quest ions you want to 

start  wi th? 

EXAMINATION BY MR VARNEY:   Yes,  M'Lord I  do have a few 

quest ions for th is witness.   Warrant Off icer can we perhaps 

turn to page two of  your aff idavi t .   I f  we can just start at 

paragraph, I  just  have a few quest ions for c lar i f icat ion on th is 

paragraph as wel l  as a few other paragraphs.  First ly thank 

you for your invest iga t ion and the col laborat ion that we have 

experienced.  You obtained a calendar for the year 1982 which 

you handed up, at least in 1981 which you have handed up as 10 

an exhib i t  and I  could see why that  could be useful  for the 

Court  is to have a calendar for the days and the months,  days, 

weeks and months for the period of  detent ion.  But would a 

calendar for 1982 not a lso be useful  to Court part icular for the 

months of  January and February of  1982 given that  the death 

of  Mr Aggett  took place in early February o f  that  year,  and wi l l  

you make steps to ensure that  such calendar is a lso put  up as 

an exhib i t .  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  wi l l  meet that  request M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   Thank you Warrant Off icer.   Just to c lari fy.   You 20 

also have put up in the th ird bul let  point,  a f i le marked 

“Directorate of  Securi ty Legis lat ion.   Aggett  Nei l  H.”  And that 

is  FGK (2)(3).   Just for the Court ’s benef i t .   Is that the personal 

f i le  of  Mr Aggett?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.  
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MR VARNEY:   And is i t  the same detainee f i le  that  yo u refer to 

later in your aff idavi t  or is i t  d i fferent one?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  the same one M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   I t  is  the same one.  Okay.  Thank you.  And 

then the second last  bul let  point .   You have a f i le marked 

“Dipale E N.”  FGK(2)(5).   And perhaps for the benef it  of  the 

Court  you can expla in why that  f i le  has been handed up.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Regarding Dipale f i le .  Mr Dipale a lso 

died in John Vorster Square under pol ice detent ion during 

1982.  He died a few days af ter Doctor Nei l  Aggett .   That is 10 

why I  made a request of  that  f i le .   And the main invest igator on 

that  was Warrant Off icer Deet lefs.  

COURT:   Deet lefs? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MR VARNEY:   And in fact ,  am I  r ight  in saying that  Ernest 

Dipale,  that  is the off ic ia l  recorde d cause of  death was suic ide 

by hanging.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   Thank you. 

COURT:   So how many days af ter Doctor Aggett .   Do you 20 

know?  Or weeks or months.    

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is only,  i f  I  am not mistaken it  is  ten 

days af ter Doctor Nei l  Aggett .   I t  was only a few days af ter 

Doctor Nei l  Aggett .   

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord we wi l l  check and . . . [ intervenes].  



MR VARNEY   MR KGAMANYANE 
    

445/2019_20.01.2020-db  /… 

 

58 

MR KGAMANYANE:   We wi l l  check.  

MR VARNEY:   At tempt to conf i rm the date of  Ernest  Dipale.  

COURT:   Does anybody know whether there was an inquest 

about Dipale? 

MR VARNEY:   I  bel ieve that  there was an inquest in Mr 

Dipale.   I  am not ent i re ly sure whether that  was a formal or 

informal inquest.  Warrant Off icer you have not come across 

any inquest records?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  was just  an informal inquest M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   So, i t  appears that i t  was only an informal 10 

inquest.   We wi l l  l ia ise with our col leagues f rom the State to 

see if  we can perhaps f ind those records and submit them to 

you as an exhib i t .   M'Lord I  have been given a, in addit ion to 

the,  I  th ink that  may very wel l  conclude the addit ional missing 

document.   Let  me just  do one f inal  check.   I  can advise the 

Court  that B(1)(19) is actual ly a photograph which was 

numbered P(34).   At  th is stage we do not know what t he 

photograph was of .   I  can also advise the Court  that  B(4)(1)(3) 

the missing statement of  Auret van Heerden that apparent ly 

detai led the assaults made against  Mr van Heerden.  M'Lord I 20 

th ink the part ies may have to make submissions to you, legal 

submissions in re lat ion to whether the missing documents with 

the mater ia l  impact with these proceedings . . . [ in tervenes].   

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   And we wi l l  prepare short  submissions which 
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we wi l l  hand up and if  the Court  so desires,  we wi l l  make oral 

submissions perhaps on Wednesday morning.  I  can te l l  you in 

advance M'Lord that  we wi l l  be submit t ing that even though 

that i t  is  most unfortunate that these pages f rom the record are 

missing,  certa in aff idavi ts are missing.   The most te l l ing 

photographs of  the cr ime scene and photographs of  the post -

mortem are part icular ly unfortunate.  M'Lord I  recal l  f rom the 

Timol inquest that  Judge Mothle in h is judgment when 

considering the same quest ion, the impact on the proceedings, 

ra ised a disturbing quest ion, because in that  case there was 10 

substant ia l  port ions of  the record missing.   In fact  much of  the 

pol ice evidence was missing,  and Judge Mothle d id ra ise the 

quest ion as to whether those port ions were intent ional ly 

destroyed or concealed f rom the Court ,  and I  imagin e your 

Lordship that  we may have to consider that  poss ib i l i ty as wel l .    

COURT:   But do you know what is contained in those missing 

port ions of  the record.  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord what we wi l l  do for our submissions on 

Wednesday is we wi l l  put  up a document and we wi l l  descr ibe 

what the missing contents might be.   And I prefer to that on 20 

Wednesday so that  we can have our ducks in a row so to 

speak. 

COURT:   Okay.   

MR VARNEY:   Alr ight  and then M'Lord with your leave I  wi l l  

proceed. 
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COURT:   Yes.   Wel l  in i t ia l ly in the quest ion put to the Warrant 

Off icer that  there are more missing documents than what he 

has indicated, and those are the ones that you have detai led.  

MR VARNEY:   That is r ight .   

COURT:   Wel l  I  have not heard his response.  Whether he 

agrees or not .    

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  may be more M'Lord.  

COURT:   You agree.  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord I  th ink what the part ies ought to do and 

perhaps an appropriate t ime is to come together and agree an 10 

inf in i te l is t  of  what is missing.  

COURT:   Alr ight .  

MR VARNEY:   And hopeful ly we can do that  at  least  by 

Wednesday.  Warrant i f  we could turn page 13 of  your aff idavi t .  

COURT:   Page 13 of  paragraph 13.  

MR VARNEY:   So that  wi l l  be . . . [ in tervenes].   

COURT:   Paragraph 13 or page 13? 

MR VARNEY:   Oh, I  beg your pardon.  I t  is  paragraph 13.  

COURT:   Yes,  thank you.  

MR VARNEY:   Actual ly,  I  beg your pardon.  I t  does not seem 20 

as if  the aff idavi t  has page numbers.   So that  would be 

paragraph 13.  So Warrant you say that  dur ing the course of  

your invest igat ion you ascerta ined the  whereabouts of  the 

fo l lowing pol ice off icers who were direct ly or indirect ly 

involved with Doctor Aggett  dur ing his period of  detention.   In 
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your view as the invest igat ing off icer would you consider a l l  of  

these individuals to be  i t  necessari ly witnesses for these 

proceedings?  And indeed,  those who have not responded to 

the subpoena that  they should be t racked down and brought to 

court .  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  th ink there would be more.   I f  you can 

track down of  the witnesses that  can come forward,  they might 

be more on that  l is t  that can be.  I f  you can be able to t race 

other witnesses or i f  other witnesses can come forward,  then 

the l is t ,  i t  can be more.  10 

COURT:   No, the quest ion is are they necessary witnesses.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   Thank you.  And the reason I ask is because we 

have just done a quick survey of  which of  these off ices 

test i f ied before the f i rst  inquest and which off ices did not .   So 

M'Lord just for the purposes of  the record and f rom what we 

can gather,  the individual by the name  of  Adonis d id not  test i fy 

in the f i rst inquest.   And neither d id Hendrik van der Merwe.  

Or the individual with the name of  van Zyl .   Or Constable 

CJJ Smith.   And I see that  that  individual unfortunately have 20 

suffered a heart  at tack.  We hope that  he reco vers in t ime to 

test i fy.  

COURT:   Who is that? 

MR VARNEY:   That is,  i t  seems l ike i t  is  Constable CJJ Smith.   

I t  says contact  made, “suffered heart at tack.”  
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COURT:   Okay.   

MR VARNEY:   Paul Erasmus.  Lucki ly,  we are aware that  he 

has been contacted and  he is co-operat ive.   Warrant were any 

efforts made to t race Warrant Off icer McPherson who was in  

charge of  the second-f loor cel ls.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  that is correct  M'Lord.  Then I  could 

not  have any records on the Warrant Off icer McPherson.   

MR VARNEY:   Okay.  So at  some point  you, or perhaps we can 

just  conf i rm for the moment that  you are unable to t race him, 

and you are unaware whether he is deceased or not.  10 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  that  is correct  M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   But i f  he was deceased you shou ld be able to 

locate those records.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   Because with the 

ident i ty number i t  is  easy to check i f  he,  f rom our prof i le  that 

he is deceased, or he is st i l l  a l ive.  

MR VARNEY:   I  see,  and you do have his ident i ty number?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is the,  the ident i ty number is 

missing f rom Warrant Off icer McPherson.  That is the point 

that  we are struggl ing to t race.   20 

MR VARNEY:   I  see.  So,  in actual fact because you do not 

have his ident i ty number you have been unable to do  a 

computer check on whether he is a l ive or deceased.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MR VARNEY:   I  think we do need to re -double our efforts and 
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part icular ly to perhaps ask the pol ice headquarters to re -check 

their  records,  because he was quit e a prominent ro le p layer in 

these proceedings.   And he was stat ioned at John Vorster 

Square over several  years.   So, I  must say I  f ind i t  hard to 

phantom that  the pol ice would not  have his personal detai ls 

including his ident ity number.    

COURT:   So, i f  he is ret i red he must be receiving some 

benef i ts f rom the State coffers.  Is i t  not?  Is there no record 

about i t? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   There is no record about that  M'Lord.  10 

COURT:   Okay.   

MR VARNEY:   Warrant i f  we could turn the page.  And deal 

with the l is t of  f i les of  the pol ice off ic ia ls that  you requested 

f rom legal services of  SAPS.  So that  would in fact  s it  under 

your paragraph 15.  So,  you have indicated that  of ,  the total 

number of  f i les that  you have requested; some twenty -four f i les 

you did receive some eight  f i les.   M'Lord with you leave I  th ink 

I  should read into the record the names of  the individuals 

whose f i les are st i l l  missing.  

COURT:   Yes. 20 

MR VARNEY:   And Warrant correct  me if  I  do make a mistake.  

But according to our quick analysis of  your two l ists,  i t  

includes a complete record of  their  careers of  pol ice off icers.    

COURT:   Oh. 

MR VARNEY:   So the cases they were involved in,  and 
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important ly M'Lord any complaints made against them.  

Somet imes complaints of  assault .   As wel l  perhaps o f  cr iminal 

charges that  have been la id against them.  And any cases in 

which they might have been an accused, and through our 

experiences in the Timol inquest we gleaned extremely useful 

informat ion f rom those pol ice fa i ls.   And that is why we were 

anxious to study them careful ly and we bel ieve,  and the Court 

search for the proof .   The contents of  those f i les ought to be 

examined and of  the major i ty of  the pol ice f i les are 

unavai lable.  I  bel ieve we need to hear f rom the SAPS why so 10 

many f i les are no longer  avai lable for our inspect ion.  

COURT:   What has,  McPherson was st i l l  a l ive unt i l  last  year.  

MR VARNEY:   He was st i l l  a l ive unt i l  Apri l  last  year.  

COURT:   So,  h is f i le  should be avai lable.   

MR VARNEY:   Indeed.   

COURT:   Okay.  So,  do you intent subpoenaing the head of 

legal services or?  

MR VARNEY:   Wel l  M'Lord I  th ink we need to consult  wi th the 

invest igat ing off icer and our col leagues for the State as to who 

would be the best  person to subpoena.  But I  do bel ieve 20 

somebody needs to court  to expla in.  

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   I  am indebted to my learned f r iends f rom the 

State,  because apart f rom McPherson the name of  Arthur 

Benoni Conrad appears to be missing f rom, wel l  h is name does 
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appear on the l is t  of  deceased.  But when i t  comes to personal 

f i les h is name is not  on that  l is t .   And of  course,  as the off icer 

u l t imately in charge of  the Aggett invest igat ion we would want 

to see his f i le as wel l .   Warrant any reason why Conrad’s name 

does not appear on the l is t  of  f i les?  Ei ther found or missing.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  d id make a request of  a l l  the names.  

Maybe I  might left  Conrad’s name on the request l is t  M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   Okay.  I f  we could ask you to include Mr Conrad 

in your further invest igat ions.  Warrant in re lat ion to the eight 

f i les that  you did receive,  and those are l is ted under l is ted 10 

under paragraph 16.  No need for me to read those into the 

record.   You have done that a lready.  You have ment ioned that 

you were given the or iginal  f i les which you then copied.  

Presumably on a photocopy machine at  pol ice headquarters.  

Are you in a posi t ion no doubt to cert i fy that  those photocopies 

are t rue copies of  the or iginals you have been given?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MR VARNEY:   And i f  we could then proceed to your 

paragraph 17.  And i t  is in th is paragraph that  you set out  your 

efforts to secure f i les belonging to detainees and deceased 20 

persons f rom Nat ional Archives.   And you then, in that 

paragraph you then set  out  the f i les that  you actual ly d id 

receive.   Number 1 through to 17.  And M'Lord my junior has 

just  a lerted me to the fact  that  a name of  Blom, the off icer who 

took the statement f rom Nei l  Aggett  on the morning of  
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5 February,  her name is a lso not  ref lected on the f i les 

requested. 

COURT:   What is her name? 

MR VARNEY:   Blom.  A Sergeant Blom. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  Sergeant Blom.  

MR VARNEY:   I t  is  Sergeant Aletta  Gertru ida Blom.  Her 

marr ied surname is now Visser.  

COURT:   There is somewhere where I  saw the name.  

MR VARNEY:   Yes.   So,  her name does appear in 

paragraph 13. 10 

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   In re lat ion to the l is t  of  individuals subpoenaed.  

We would also want to look at  her pol ice f i le  i f  i t  is  avai lable.    

COURT:   Is she st i l l  around? 

MR VARNEY:   Yes.   She is a l ive and hopeful ly she wi l l  be 

test i fying.  

COURT:   You say that  she took the statement f rom the 

deceased on 4 February?  

MR VARNEY:   On the morning of  5 February in re lat ion to 

a l legat ions of  assault  and torture.  20 

COURT:   Ja. 

MR VARNEY:   During the course of  the proceedings we wi l l  

revert  to that  importan t statement.  

COURT:   Yes.  I  see now i t  is  one o’c lock.  

MR VARNEY:   Oh, I  beg your pardon M'Lord.   I  have lost  t rack 
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of  t ime.  Would this be an appropriate t ime to take the lunch 

adjournment.  

COURT:   Yes.   We shal l  do so.   The Court  adjourns unt i l  two 

o ’c lock.  

COURT ADJOURNS       [13:00] 

---- ---- --- --- ---- --- -- --  

COURT RESUMES       [13:59] 

CLERK:   Recal l ing matter in the inquest of  Late Doctor Nei l  

Hudson Aggett .   And our witness is reminded that  he is st i l l  

under oath.  10 

FRANK KGAMANYANE:   (st i l l  under oath) 

COURT:   Okay.  You may proceed.  

MR VARNEY:   As the court p leases.  M'Lord just before lunch 

we were deal ing with a few aspects ar is ing f rom the aff idavi t  of  

the invest igat ing off icer.  

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   And M'Lord we had gotten up to paragraph 18 

of  h is aff idavi t .  

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   Warrant Off icer do you have paragraph 18 20 

before you? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   In that paragraph you had requested a number 

of  f i les of  detainees and deceased person f rom Nat ional 

Archives.   And indeed, you had set out  seventeen names.  I 
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bel ieve you did read those names into the record.   So we do 

not have to repeat that .   Warrant the seventeen names here,  is 

i t  in  fact  the fu l l  l is t  of  individuals you requested f rom the State 

archives or were there some f i les that  you sought that  were not 

avai lable or were missing.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   This is the fu l l  l is t  that  I  made a request 

and then al l  received al l  of  th is f i les.  

MR VARNEY:   I  see.  That is good news.  You requested 

seventeen f i les and in fact  you received seventeen f i les.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  that  is correct  M'Lord.  10 

MR VARNEY:   Wonderfu l .   Warrant am I correct  in saying that 

in terms of  accessing the f i les themselves you as the 

invest igat ing off icer do not have direct  access in the sense 

that they f i rst  have to be sent to police headquarters ,  and only 

then are you granted access?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   And can you expla in the procedure why State 

archives simply wi l l  not deal with you direct ly and wi l l  n ot 

a l low you access to the f i les.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Whi le I  requested the f i les f rom the legal 20 

service off ice, Captain Dickson to ld me, she made a request 

f rom the archives herself .   Then she is wait ing for the f i les to 

be del ivered to her off ice then she would let me know about 

the arr ival  of  the f i les,  at  her off ice.  So,  I  d id not have a direct 

involvement with the archives.   I  cannot see which archives 
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she made a request  f rom.  Because I  was I  communicat ion with 

her.  

MR VARNEY:   I  see. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   So,  I  wi l l  not  te l l  which archives did she 

request the f i les f rom.  

MR VARNEY:   And do you th ink you may occasion to seek 

further f i les f rom the State archives,  or is th is the complete l is t 

so far? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   This is the complete l is t .   I f  there are 

names forthcoming I  can st i l l  make a request.    10 

MR VARNEY:   Okay.  I f  we can then move to paragraph 19.  

And M'Lord th is paragraph deals with the at tempt to obtain a 

unabridged death cert i f icate in re lat ion to the death of 

L ieutenant Steven Whitehead.  Who reportedly d ied during 

Apri l  2019.  In fact  23 Apri l  2019 is the date of  death.  M'Lord 

i f  I  can just  expla in why the family have insisted that  an 

unabridged death cert i f icate be secured.  And that  is because 

of  the circumstances and the t iming of  the de ath of  L ieutenant 

Whitehead.  I  might of  course just  be coincidence that he died 

with in 24 hours of  the Minister making the announcement that 20 

the Aggett  inquest was to be re-opened.  L ieutenant  Whitehead 

of  course was the main interrogator and the family w ould say 

tormentor of  Nei l  Aggett .   They may now have been deprived 

the opportuni ty of  hold ing Mr Whitehead to account.   M'Lord 

they have also pointed out to us that  there was l i t t le  publ ic 
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informat ion avai lable about the passing of  St ephan Whitehead, 

such as depictured messages on socia l  media,  Facebook and 

the l ike.   And there were suspic ions were arouse d as to 

whether Mr Whitehead was in fact  dead or not.   The 

invest igat ing off icer at  the t ime, work ing for the family; 

Mr Frank Dutton at tempted also to ge t  hold of  an unabridged 

death cert i f icate.   Unsuccessful ly.   But he advised us that  i f  we 

could look at  the unabridged death cert i f icate,  i t  would give 

some detai ls that would help conf irm and lay to rest  these 

suspic ions.  Detai ls for example such as  place of death, 10 

hospita l ,  hospice et cetera ,  in  which some basic invest igat ion 

could conf i rm whether in fact  Mr Whitehead was admitted to a 

part icular medical inst i tut ion or not.  And for that reason we 

support  the efforts of  the State to subpoena an individua l f rom 

the Department of  Home Affa irs in order to learn more why an 

unabridged cert i f icate cannot be furnished to th is court.   

COURT:   What does an unabridged say?  Unnatural  death or 

natural  death.  Does i t  expla in? 

MR VARNEY:   Warrant perhaps you can answer that  quest ion.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  is  unnatural  death.  20 

COURT:   Unnatural? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes. 

COURT:   Okay,  

MR VARNEY:   I  bel ieve but cannot conf i rm at  th is stage.  I  

bel ieve Mr Whitehead might have had cancer M'Lord.  
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COURT:   What? 

MR VARNEY:   He might have been suffer ing f rom cancer.  

COURT:   Okay.  

MR VARNEY:   We can only conf i rm that once we see the 

. . . [ in tervenes].   

COURT:   But he says unnatural  death.  

MR VARNEY:   Let us conf i rm that .   I  thought you said natural .  

Was i t  natural  or unnatu ral? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  th ink i t  is  natural .   I  wi l l  conf i rm.  

COURT:   Please conf i rm that .   You did not  have, we did have 10 

the abridged one? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  have got the abridged one.  

COURT:   But what does i t  say?  Does i t  not normal ly say what 

i t  the cause of  death. 

MR VARNEY:   Perhaps the . . . [ in tervenes].   

COURT:   The abridged one.  Does i t  not  say?  Sorry?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  am looking for the cert i f icate M'Lord.  

COURT:   Okay.   

MS SINGH:   Just  bear with me M'Lord.  

MR VARNEY:   Perhaps whi le my col league is searching for the 20 

. . . [ in tervenes].   

MS SINGH:   M'Lord i t  is  marked as FGK(12)(3).  

COURT:   FGK12(3).  

MS SINGH:   I  beg leave to hand i t  up M'Lord.    

COURT:   Ja.   Ja.   Yes.  
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MR KGAMANYANE:   And the abridged death cert i f icate M'Lord 

i t  is  natural  causes.  

COURT:   I t  says natural  causes.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I t  says natural  causes.  

COURT:   Very wel l  then.  That is f ine.   You already have got i t  

here.   I t  is  f ine.   Thank you.  I t  is  natural  causes.  I t  is  f ine.   

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord perhaps before I  p roceed to the next 

quest ion ar is ing f rom the aff idavi t .   We did ra ise the quest ion 

about Ernest  Dipale and his date of  death in 1982.  My learned 

junior has handed me a copy of  the f ront  page of  the medical 10 

legal post -mortem report and that report  suggest that Dipale 

d ied on 10 August 1982 at 11:00, and that the cause of  death 

was hanging.  M'Lord if  i t  assists  the Court  I  can hand up a 

copy of  the f ront  page of  the post -mortem. 

COURT:   Is i t  not part  of  the f i les which are already here?  Is 

i t  not  in . . . [ in tervenes].   

MR VARNEY:   Let me just  check.  

COURT:   I  th ink we should not  dupl icate annexures.   I  do not 

want a dupl icat ion of  annexures.  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord i t  is  in fact  an annexure already.  I t  is  20 

annexure . . . [ in tervenes].   

COURT:   Ja.   FGK(2)(5).   Yes.   FGK(2)(5).   Yes.   Okay.  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord I can also apprise the Court  of  some 

informat ion in re lat ion to the whereabout of  Mr Auret  van 

Heerden and Warrant you have set  out  your efforts to locate Mr 
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van Heerden in paragraph 22 of  your aff idavi t  an d you 

indicated that  a l though you had some contact  with Mr van 

Heerden you did not  hear f rom him again.  M'Lord only 

yesterday one of  our witnesses we hope would be at tending at 

Court  in the next  few weeks, Mr Nei l  Coleman indicated that he 

had been in touch with Mr Auret  van Heerden, and that Mr van 

Heerden was current ly engaged in a very busy t ravel  schedule.  

As we speak,  he was on business in Ethiopia .   He relays the 

message f rom Mr van Heerden that  should the Court  requires, 

he would be happy to make out an aff idavi t .   That he would 10 

f ind i t  qui te d iff icult  to at tend court ,  given his schedule.   I  then 

asked Mr Coleman and I  indicated the dates that  th is court 

would be si t t ing to see if  he could pass on a message to Mr 

van Heerden if  he could at  least  give us perhaps one day of  

h is t ime, between now and the end of  February.   And I  am 

wait ing to hear back M'Lord to hear i f  there any further 

developments .   I  wi l l  br ing i t  to the Court ’s at tent ion.  

COURT:   Okay.  

MR VARNEY:   On paragraph 23 just  a point of  i nformat ion 

deal ing with the l is t  of  detainees who have died in detent ion.  20 

In due course we would also hand up a l is t  that  these South 

Af r ican Archives assist  us in compi l ing and indeed as my 

learned f r iend for the State indicated th is morning the total 

number of  detainees who died in securi ty detent ion higher than 

I  th ink the sixty seven ment ioned, and i t  looks l ike the f inal 
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f igure might be in the eight ies.   

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   Warrant in paragraph 24, you say that you have 

ascerta ined that there are a number of  witnesses, pol ice 

off ic ia ls who are also re ly and they wi l l  be present in court .  

Evidence by way of  aff idavi ts through the legal f i rm of  the late 

Doctor Aggett .   Can I  assume that  you have already l isted the 

names of  these individuals in your evidence and in th is 

aff idavi t ,  or are there st i l l  individuals who you have located 

through the legal f i rm of  the late Doctor Aggett  that  you st i l l  10 

have to d isclose? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  that  is correct .   There is a l is t  

a lready compi led. 

MR VARNEY:   Okay, and so I imagine al l  those names for 

example would probably be included in the names under 

paragraph 18 of  your aff idavi t .  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

MR VARNEY:   Alr ight  and then turning I  th ink turning to your 

last  paragraph, I  th ink paragraph 25.  These are documents 

that  you downloaded f rom the internet,  and I  bel ieve that  is the 20 

website run by the South Af r ican History archives,  together 

with the South Afr ican Broadcast ing Corporat ion.   And there 

are annexures marked FGK(17)(1) to  (9).   You have read out 

the names of  the individuals and the t i t les of  some of  these 

documents.  Can you expla in to  the Court  why you downloaded 
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these documents and why you bel ieved i t  was necessary to put 

up these documents as exhib i ts before th is Court .    

MR KGAMANYANE:   The reason to download th is documents 

M'Lord,  i t  was to check if  there is any of  th is pol ice off icers 

who appl ied for amnesty regarding Doctor Nei l  Aggett inquest.  

And whether they have been granted amnesty or not .   That 

was the reason to download those records.  

MR VARNEY:   Okay.  Wel l  in  actual  i t  does appear but  we 

would have to conf i rm th is that  these are amnesty appl icat ions 

in re lat ion to other cr imes commit ted against  other detainees 10 

and persons.  Al though we have reason to bel ie ve that  the 

documents are nonetheless st i l l  re levant for purposes of  th is 

Court .   So for example your Lordship in due course we wi l l  be 

point ing out that at  least  two of  these individuals had 

interrogated detainees who were held at the same t ime as Nei l 

Aggett  in John Vorster Square,  and when they test i f ied before 

the f i rst  inquest they cla imed fa lsely that they t reated the 

detainees under interrogat ion wel l ,  and that  nobody was 

assaulted,  tortured or hurt .   And in actual  fact we now know 

that  that evidence  was fa lse,  because subsequent ly they 20 

approached the Truth Commission to apply for amnesty in 

re lat ion of  the torture of  those individuals.   M'Lord before I  

c lose up my cross-examinat ion of  the invest igat ing off icer,  I  

wish to put a quest ion in re lat ion to  the invest igat ion that  was 

conducted by your predecessor,  Captain Ben Nel.  You have 
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not submit ted a f i le  so far compris ing the invest igat ions that  he 

conducted pr ior to you start ing on the case.  So let  us begin.  

Can you remind the Court that  you took o ver the invest igat ion 

f rom Captain Ben Nel.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  started invest igat ion May 2019.  

MR VARNEY:   May 2019. 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Pr ior to that  i t  was Captain Ben who was 

the invest igator on th is matter.  

MR VARNEY:   So how long did he invest igate pr i or to handing 

the f i le over to you?  10 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  cannot answer on that M'Lord.  That I  

have made a requested f rom Captain Nel to submit an aff idavi t  

to expla in what invest igat ion has already been conducted by 

him.  So I  am st i l l  wait ing for that  aff i davi t .   When i t  is  ready, I  

wi l l  provide that  to the Court .  

MR VARNEY:   Yes.   Thank you for point ing that  out.   Because 

we th ink that  is potent ia l ly an important aff idavi t .   We have 

already submit ted to the Court  in our opening submissions th is 

morning that th is case, l ike most of  the other TRC cases had 

been plagued by long delays.  20 

 We were part icular ly upset after we had brought the 

Aggett  case to the at tent ion of  the SAPS and the NPA in 

January of  2016 that  i t  took nearly four years to get  to the 

point where we are today.  And i t  not  real ly apparent f rom the 

documents I  have put up so far,  what happened during the 
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course of  the invest igat ion.   Pr ior to you taking over in 2019.  

 So the Court  real ly needs to understand what was done 

between January of  2016  and was i t  Apri l  or May 2019 that  you 

took over? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  took over in the beginning of  May 2019.  

MR VARNEY:   Beginning of  May 2019.  Wel l  that  is a 

substant ia l  per iod of  t ime, and that  so far is not much to 

indicate what actual ly went on,  so we wi l l  make the request for 

i t  that  you pursue Captain Nel and his off ice in relat ion to 

provid ing that  aff idavi t  to th is Court .   M'Lord . . . [ in tervenes].  10 

COURT:   Is he st i l l  around.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   He is st i l l  around M'Lord.  

COURT:   Okay.  You want h im to give a bi t  of  what happened 

between that t ime? 

MR VARNEY:   What,  what invest igat ions did he carry out  pr ior 

to handing the matter over to th is Warrant Off icer.   

COURT:   Okay.   

MR VARNEY:   And of  course if  he had discovered or found 

any documents,  we would want to know, whether we are in 

possession of  them, or whether they st i l l  have to be handed 20 

over.    

COURT:   Okay.   

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord I  have no further quest ions for th is 

witness.  

COURT:   Okay.  Adv Coetzee.  
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MR COETZEE:   Thank you, M'Lord.  I  have no quest ions to 

th is witness.  

COURT:   I  just  want to f ind out  f rom…there are no quest ions.  

Thank you.  The Court  has no quest ions.  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord before the,  sorry M'Lord before the 

witness is excused I  have on quest ions that  were ra ised by 

learned f r iend.  

COURT:   Okay.  

MS SINGH:   May I be permitted to do th is p lease.  

COURT:   Sorry.    10 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MS SINGH:   Warrant the matter of 

Mr Dipale, are you the investigating officer in that matter?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes,  M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   Are you also the invest igat ing off icer in that 

matter? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   And the matter is being invest igated at  the 

moment? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  

MS SINGH:   Was there an appl icat ion thus far to re -open i t?  20 

Thus far as i t  stands? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   There has been no appl icat ion that  has 

been made to be re-opened. 

MS SINGH:   As the court  p leases M'Lord.   I  have no further 

quest ions.  



MR VARNEY   MR KGAMANYANE 
    

445/2019_20.01.2020-db  /… 

 

79 

COURT:   What I  wanted to f ind out is,  is  there any evidence 

as to what happened to the Magistrate Mr Kotzé.   Is he st i l l  

around?  Mr Kotzé.  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord are you ta lk ing about?  

COURT:   The Magistrate in the f i rst inquest.  

MR VARNEY:   Pieter Kotzé M'Lord.  My re-col lect ion is that  he 

has passed away.   

COURT:   Warrant Off icer thank you very much.  I  have no 

further quest ions.   Thank you very much for your assistance.  

I f  you are needed again you would be informed.  But you are 10 

st i l l  around.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  am st i l l  around.  

COURT:   Thank you very much.  

MS SINGH:   M'Lord. 

COURT:   Yes? 

MS SINGH:   Before the invest igat ing off icer is released.  

There was issue that was ra ised during the lunchbreak 

regarding the inspect ion in loco  tomorrow.  I t  appears that 

there is a problem regarding securi ty concerns at 

Johannesburg Central .   Can we just perhaps  take that 20 

evidence and ask your Lordship and Counsel wi l l  address,  so 

his Lordship can address the issue.   

COURT:   Yes. 

MS SINGH:   I f  I  may.   

COURT:   Yes. 
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MS SINGH:   Thank you M'Lord.  

COURT:   So what,  yes.  

MS SINGH:   Thank you.  Warrant is i t  correct  that  you spoke 

to Colonel Edwards today regarding the arrangements of  

whether media wi l l  be permit ted into the cel ls in part icular 

tomorrow, or wi l l  they be permit ted to take photographs.  

Ei ther at  the cel ls at  John Vorster Square.   Part icular ly on th e 

ninth and tenth f loor.   Is that  correct?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes that  is correct  Ma'am.  

MS SINGH:   Can you please inform the Court  as to what the 10 

conversat ion with Colonel Edwards was?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   He conf i rmed that  media is a l lowed on 

the ninth and the tenth f loor.   But no photographs are al lowed.  

And then on the second f loor,  at  the cel ls they wi l l  not  a l low 

any media to accompany the Judge , to accompany us.  

COURT:   The second f loor?  Only the ninth f loor?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   Only the ninth and the tenth f loor.  

COURT:   Media is a l lowed to go and do what there?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   They can accompany us, but they are not 

a l lowed to take photographs.  20 

MR VARNEY:   Yes.  

MS SINGH:   Nothing further for th is witness M'Lord.   

NO FURTHER QUESTIONS 

M'Lord we take  the view on behalf  of  the family that these are 

open court  proceedings and that  i t  is  important  that he publ ic 
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not excluded f rom the proceedings of  th is court  unless there is 

good just i f iable reason for doing so.    

 I t  has been expla ined to us that there are securi ty 

concerns in re lat ion to the cel ls,  and the reason put up is that 

i f  the publ ic gains access to images of  the cel ls and the 

second f loor,  cel l  b lock that  th is might assist  hatching escape 

plans and the l ike.   So,  we re luctant ly accept that  that  is an 

issue.  However,  in re lat ion to the ninth and tenth f loors we do 

not accept that  cameras should be excluded.  M'Lord in the 

Timol inquest we had te levis ion crews and journal ists who took 10 

pictures which became impl imat ic photographs and images 

f rom that  part icular inquest.  No object ions were made at  that 

t ime. 

 My understand M'Lord is that  the only object ion is that  

pol ice off icers do not want to be photographed themselves,  but 

in re lat ion to the actual  off ices i tsel f  in  which interrogat ions 

took place and perhaps witnesses who might be point ing out 

scenes and act ivi t ies that  went on during that  t ime, there can 

be no object ion to those aspects being photographed an 

f i lmed.  Presumably of  course that  the witnesses in quest ions 20 

have no object ions.   So M 'Lord we would submit that  the 

cameras be al lowed on the ninth and the tenth f loor with the 

proviso that  cameras not be al lowed to f i lm any footage where 

pol ice off icers happened to be in the scene.  So I  th ink we can 

easi ly arrange the inspect ion so that  f i lming only takes place 
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in the absence of  pol ice off icers,  and presumably they would 

only want to f i lm at  a point  in t ime where we vis i t  in terrogat ion 

rooms, where we have our witnesses.  

 As ment ioned,  we wi l l  have around four or f ive witnesses 

tomorrow who wi l l  be point ing out their  experiences in those 

interrogat ion rooms.  And unless the witnesses themselves 

object , we can see no just i f iable reason for excluding the 

media f rom those proceedings on the ninth and ten f loors.  

COURT:   Adv Coetzee any . . . [ in tervenes].  

MR COETZEE:   Thank you, M'Lord.   M'Lord Counsel was 10 

appointed on behalf  of  the Pol ice Service.   That is not me.  I  

am on behalf  of  the individual member.   Mr Mohammed Amojee 

was appointed to represent and he was here today.  He 

unfortunately only received his instruct ions today and he was 

not dressed for court  and he had other commitments.  

 M'Lord I cannot speak on his behalf  and I bel ieve he 

must get  instruct ions f rom his c l ient ,  the Department as to 

whether or not  there can be any reasons for warded th is Court 

as to whether photographs can be taken or not  inside on the 

ninth and the tenth f loor.  20 

 M'Lord I  wi l l  contact  h im, and I  wi l l  pose the quest ion, 

that  the can get h is instruct ions,  that  he can get h is 

instruct ions f rom the pol ice to assist  us as quickly as possib le, 

but  I  th ink i t  is something that  we do need to take into 

considerat ion on behalf  of  the Pol ice Department.  
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COURT:   But Warrant Off icer sorry,  is i t  Edwards.   Colonel 

Edwards.   Is that the instruct ions that he has received f rom 

whom?  Is that normal procedure not to a l low, do you know 

whether i t  is  normal procedure not al lowed to be taken in the 

interrogat ion cel ls?  

MR KGAMANYANE:   I  am not sure about that  M'Lord.   That is 

the only explanat ion that  he give i t  to me that,  because  he is, 

he is,  the only person that  I  make arrangement through him.  

The John Vorster Square pol ice stat ion.    

COURT:   We ei ther let  h im to come and expla in that ,  or get 10 

Counsel for the Pol ice to be here.   Is i t  not  possib le to get  h im 

here th is after because we cannot go there tomorrow i f  we do 

not c lear th is issue? 

MR COETZEE:   M'Lord if  we can stand down.  I  can contact 

h im.  I  can also endeavour to conta ct General  Groenewald  that 

she can assist us in th is regards as she is both,  she is f rom 

the legal department with in the pol ice service.   So if  we can 

stand down for twenty minutes I  am sure I  wi l l  be able to 

enl ighten the Court .  

COURT:   Let us get  th is c lear.   The ninth and tenth f loor,  is 20 

that  where the interrogat ion rooms are? 

MR COETZEE:   Yes. 

COURT:   So they say,  Edwards say they cannot,  they al low 

members of  the publ ic but  no photographs been taken.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   
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COURT:   Of the interrogat ion rooms? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   That is correct  M'Lord.   

COURT:   And he did not  give you reasons why? 

MR KGAMANYANE:   Yes M'Lord.  

COURT:   Did he not te l l  you why.  

MR KGAMANYANE:   He did not  te l l  me why.  

COURT:   And what is the posi t ion about second f loor?  That is 

where the death occurred.   That is where Nei l ,  the deceased 

was kept.    

MR VARNEY:   Yes that is correct M'Lord,  but  that is in a 10 

separate of  the John Vorster Square Complex.   That is the cell  

b lock. 

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   And I understand the object ion there is that  i f  

photographs were taken inside that b lock,  i t  could assist  with 

pr isoners hatching escape plans.   But we are actual ly ta lk ing 

about the off ice block.   The ninth and tenth f loors where,  that 

is normal off ices with tables and chairs where quest ioning was 

undertaken. 

COURT:   So the second f loor we can go there but  not  take 20 

photographs? 

MR VARNEY:   From what I  understand, and again I  th ink I  

agree with my learned f r iend for,  Mr Deet lefs.   You probably 

want to gain c lar i ty because my understanding is that  they do 

not want members of  the media in the cel l  b lock at  a l l ,  but  they 
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are wi l l ing to let  the media at tend the ninth and the tenth f loor, 

and the informat ion I  have which came through Adv Singh, the 

State is that  they can take photographs . . . [ in tervenes].  

COURT:   On the ninth and tenth f loor yes .  

MR VARNEY:   But not  of  individual pol ice off icers.  

COURT:   No, no we do not need them. 

MR VARNEY:   And in any event,  when we are in a part icular 

room, i f  there is a pol ice off icer then he or she would have to 

vacate. 

MR VARNEY:   I t  wi l l  not  be there to photograph in any event.  10 

So I  do real ly see the issue in that regard.  

COURT:   In the cel l  in  which the deceased was, where he 

died.   Are they also saying that  photographs should not  be 

taken? 

MR VARNEY:   Wel l  M'Lord that is my understanding but the 

Warrant Off icer who spoke with Colonel Edwards has a bet ter 

sense.  I  should say M'Lord that  i t  wi l l  part  of  the record in any 

event.   I t  wi l l  be photographs that we wi l l  be submit t ing.   And it 

is  part  of  the photo album and as far as I  am concerned the 

photographs tha t  we wi l l  be submit t ing wi l l  be part  of  the Court 20 

record,  and part  of  the open court  record.  I t  wi l l  be simply be 

the gr i l l .   The actual  locat ion,  the scene where the al leged 

hanging took place.  I  am lost  to understand why that  would 

necessari ly help people to escape.  

COURT:   Let us stand down and ask Counsel for the pol ice to 
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please come and probably get  instruct ion.   We shal l  adjourn.  

As soon as we have clar i f ied i t ,  someone can cal l  me.  Adv 

Mlotshwa you want to say something?  Sorry about tha t .  

MR MLOTSHWA:   No, no I  am just standing up for the Judge 

to adjourn.  

COURT:   Alr ight .   Thank you 

COURT ADJOURNS       [14:31] 

---- ---- --- --- ---- --- -- --  

COURT RESUMES       [15:11] 

CLERK:   Recal l ing matter in the inquest of  Late Doctor Nei l  10 

Hudson Aggett .  

COURT:   Yes.   

MR COETZEE:   M'Lord I  must apologise.   I  could not  get 

instruct ions f rom the pol ice in re lat ion to the permission of  the 

media.   M'Lord we have made certa in proposals to them which 

is very s imi lar in what the si tuat ion was in the Timol matter  in 

re lat ion to the ninth and tenth f loor,  and my submission was in 

th is regard that  no personnel may be photographed and not 

ident if iable documents or dockets may be photographed.  

COURT:   Yes. 20 

MR COETZEE:   That is my proposal that  we have made to 

them, but we are wait ing for instruct ions M'Lord.   In relat ion to 

the second f loor I  understand that  they do have certa in 

problem but I  have also made the suggest ion to them, can 

there not be a pol ice photographer to take photographs of  
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issues that  are pointed out and that  which Counsel and or the 

Court  wishes to be photographed and I  had not received 

feedback and or instruct ions in th is regard.   But th at was our 

submissions that  we have made.  

COURT:   Any forward f rom what…  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord f rom the side of  the family we are in 

agreement with the proposals made by my learned col league 

for Mr Deet lefs .   In re lat ion of  the ninth and ten f loors we th in k 

those are sensib le restr ict ions and we had simi lar restr ict ions 

in p lace during the team of inquest.    10 

 In re lat ion to the cel ls,  again our submissions are that i f  

the photographs are restr icted to the actual  scene i tsel f  and 

namely the gr i l led door,  about the caged at  least , then that in 

i tself  wi l l  not  pose any part icular safety or securi ty r isk.   

COURT:   Yes. 

MR VARNEY:   I t  real ly is the layout and the balance at  the 

complex could potent ia l ly be problemat ic.  

COURT:   So,  wi l l  Colonel Edwards avai lable tomorrow to meet 

us. 

MS SINGH:   I f  I  may address the Court  M'Lord.  20 

COURT:   Yes. 

MS SINGH:   Yes,  he wi l l  be.  

COURT:   Okay I  th ink that  is your posi t ion tomorrow?  I  th ink, 

what about the second f loor.   I t  is  agreed about the ninth and 

the tenth f loor.   There is no issues about the ninth and the 
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tenth f loor? 

MR VARNEY:   I t  appears not M'Lord.  

COURT:   I t  is  agreed. 

MR COETZEE:   M'Lord I  just  wish to re i terate.   I  do not have 

instruct ions to agree to that.   I  can just merely inform the 

Court  as to what the what the proposal is that  we have made in 

th is regard as i t  was the si tuat ion in the Timol ma tter.   But I  

have not received instruct ions to concede to that f rom the 

pol ice.    

COURT:   I  suggest Adv Amojee be avai lable a lso tomorrow.  I  10 

mean he is instructed.  

MR COETZEE:   Ja. 

COURT:   And now we are at tending to the pol ice stat ion 

tomorrow and those are his c l i ents.   So he better be avai lable.  

MR COETZEE:   He said that  he wi l l  be there.  

COURT:   That is f ine then we can sort  i t  out  tomorrow.  So 

shal l  we then meet tomorrow at  ten, are you st i l l  in tent cal l ing 

another witness today?  I t  does not look l ike t ime w i l l  commit 

us today. 

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord before we leave the issue of  the 20 

second-f loor cel ls.  I f  there is object ion to the proposal that 

footage be al lowed to taken of  the cr ime scene i tself ,  in  other 

words the gr i l l ,  a proposal has been to ourselves and the State 

and we have had discussions amongst Counsel of  a l l  part ies 

that perhaps one f i lm crew be permitted to come in, to f i l l  the 
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ent i re proceedings which in the one hand would give the Court 

a record of  the inspect ion, which might be useful  for 

subsequent reference.  And then secondly Counsel together 

with the Court could inspect that  footage and make a 

determinat ion on what should be released, in other words the 

tape would be handed over to the Court  and then the Court  

should decide what should be re lea sed and what should not .  

COURT:   You are not  suggest ing that  the Court  should not 

vis i t  second f loor?  

MR VARNEY:   That is a proposal in re lat ion to the f i lming of  10 

the second f loor.  

COURT:   Wel l  let us leave f i lming aside.  The Court should 

a lso be there ,  and we should,  let  us leave the f i lming aside.  

And then we should be in that  cel l  to see what happened there . 

MR VARNEY:   Absolute ly M'Lord.  

COURT:   The issue of  f i lming is something different  now.  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord I  do not th ink there is an object ion f rom 

the Court  and part ies to be present on the second f loor.   The 

only quest ion is recording of footage and taking of  

photographs.  And the concern as I  understand i t  is  that  i f  20 

general  photographs and footage is taken that  maybe ideas 

might be given to nefar ious part ies to t ry and break pr isoners 

out  of  the cel ls.   So that  is the r isk which we wish to avoid 

M'Lord. 

COURT:   Okay very wel l  then.  I  think then we wi l l  meet the 
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Counsel for the pol ice as wel l  as Colonel Edwards tomorrow at  

the pol ice stat ion. 

MR VARNEY:   At  the . . . [ in tervenes].   

COURT:   Ja. 

MR VARNEY:   At  the main foyer of  the pol ice stat ion.  

COURT:   Ja okay.   We wi l l  meet them there at ten in the 

morning before we start  proceedings.  

MR VARNEY:   M'Lord the other witness and I  th ink wh at 

M'Lord is int imat ing that  our witness for th is afternoon, J i l l  

Berger we would not  f in ish in the remaining t ime.  10 

COURT:   Never.  

MR VARNEY:   We stand down unt i l  Wednesday.  

COURT:   So tomorrow i t  would only be the inspect ion in loco  

and then we break for the day? 

MR VARNEY:   Indeed. 

COURT:   Very wel l  then.  Anything else.   Any other 

submissions? 

MS SINGH:   None M'Lord.   

COURT:   I  just  wanted to c lar ify about the issues about,  I  do 

not th ink i t  is  proper to leave the f i les here.   I  would remove 20 

the f i les that had been handed up to my Chambers.   So I  would 

also suggest that  you do not leave your f i les there.   You should 

take them along.  I f  i t  was secure enough I am sure I am sure 

we wi l l  meet  there,  but  you cannot guarantee that .  Okay.  

Then we adjourn.  The Court adjourn tomorrow at  ten for the 
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inspect ion in loco  at  the pol ice stat ion.  

MATTER IS POSTPONED TO 21 JANUARY 2020 FOR 

INSPECTION IN LOCO 

COURT ADJOURNS 

---- ---- --- --- ---- --- -- --  
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